
Page 1 of 2 
 

 

 
 
 

 
Meeting Agenda  

Continuum of Care (CoC) Board 
Wednesday, May 14, 2025 

2:00 – 3:30pm 
Ventura County Office of Education 

Administrative Services Center – Simi Room 
5189 Verdugo Way, Camarillo 

 

Zoom Meeting ID: 161 663 1166 
https://www.zoomgov.com/j/1616631166 

1. Call to Order 
2. Board Comments 
3. CoC Staff Comments 
4. Public Comments: An opportunity for the public to participate in public meetings by addressing the Ventura 

County Continuum of Care Board in connection with one or more agenda or non-agenda items. Public 
comment is limited to 3 minutes per person during the opening part of the meeting and per item. The time 
allotment can be increased or decreased by the Chair depending on the number of speakers. This meeting is 
subject to the Brown Act and public comments may be submitted by using one of the following options: 

 Email in advance of the meeting: If you wish to make a written public comment, the comment must be 
submitted via email no later than 4:30pm on the day prior to the Board meeting. Send emails to: 
venturacoc@ventura.org  Please indicate the agenda item you would like to speak on if relevant and 
whether you would like your message read by staff or if you will be participating in person. 

 During the meeting: Participants attending online may use the chat function in zoom to indicate they 
would like to make a comment. Participants attending in-person can complete a public comment card 
indicating which item they would like to comment on and submit to the Board Chair. Staff will call on 
participants during the public comment section of the meeting or during specific items following staff 
presentation of the item. 

 

Continuum of Care Governance Board Business 
 

5. Approval of Board Minutes from April 9, 2025. 
 

6. Receive and File the Ventura County Homeless Management Information System and Pathways to Home 
Coordinated Entry System (VC HMIS/PTH CES) Report. 

 
7. Approval to Reallocate Youth Set-Aside Grant Funding in the Homeless Housing Assistance and 

Prevention (HHAP) Program Round 3 and Authorize Ventura County CoC Staff to Release a Request for 
Proposals (RFP) for a New Subrecipient. 

 
8. Approval of the 2025 Ventura County Homeless Count Volunteer Survey 

 
9. Approval of the State Homeless Housing Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) Program Round 6 Timeline 

with Authorization to apply for HHAP Round 6 and authorize CoC Board Chair to execute a 
Memorandum of Understanding between the County of Ventura and Ventura County Continuum of 
Care which will include the updated Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. 

https://www.zoomgov.com/j/1616631166
mailto:venturacoc@ventura.org


Page 1 of 2 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Meeting Minutes  
Continuum of Care (CoC) Board 

Wednesday, April 9, 2025 
2:00 – 3:30pm 

Ventura County Office of Education 
Administrative Services Center – Simi Room 

5189 Verdugo Way, Camarillo 
 

1. Call to Order: Manuel Minjares, Board Chair, called the meeting to order at 2:02pm 
 

Board Members: Michael Skinner, Paul Drevenstedt, Ingrid Hardy, Dr. Sevet Johnson, Jack Edelstein, 
Jeff Lambert, Carrie Sabatini, Stefany Gonzalez, Manuel Minjares 
 

Absent: Dawn Dyer, Mara Malch, Julianna Gallardo, Pauline Preciado 
 

CoC Staff: Jennifer Harkey, Alicia Morales, Felipe Flores, Morgan Saveliff 
 

2. Board Comments: Dr. Sevet Johnson congratulated Manuel Minjares on his appointment as Fillmore 
Assistant City Manager. Jeff Lambert shared that HACSB is expecting to have the first 60 residents moved 
into Valentine Rd. by the end of July.  
 

3. CoC Staff Comments: Jennifer Harkey shared that in preparation for HHAP 6, CoC staff will be holding 
stakeholder engagement sessions to gather feedback on gaps and funding priorities. Jenn invited the Board 
to attend the next engagement session on April 17th at 10:30am at the Government Center.  

 

4. Public Comments: none 
 

Continuum of Care Governance Board Business 
 

5. Approval of Board Minutes from March 12, 2025. 
Paul Drevenstedt moved to approve; Jack Edelstein was second; Stefany Gonzalez abstained; the 
balance of the Board was in favor.  

 
6. Receive a presentation on the 2025 Homeless Count in Ventura County (Presenter: Jennifer Harkey) 

Jenn presented the 2025 PIT Count data with the Board. Jenn shared that this Count shows an overall 
15.6% decrease in individuals experience homelessness from the prior year and an 18.5% decrease 
since 2023. Jenn highlighted that this progress is reflective of the investments made into permanent 
supportive housing, homeless prevention programs, and enhanced supportive services to support 
housing retention. The full PowerPoint and preliminary report can be found on the VC CoC Website. 
The Final Report is anticipated to be released in May 2025.  

 
7. Receive and file the submittal of the annual System Performance Measures Report for 2023-24 to 

the U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development (Presenter: Alicia Morales-McKinney)  
Alicia Morales shared the 2023-2034 annual SPM report with the Board. Alicia shared that the 
performance report is a key scoring factor in the annual HUD CoC competition and will be submitted to 
HUD on April 11, 2025. The full report can be found on the VC CoC Website.  

 



Page 2 of 2 
 

8. Receive an update on the County of Ventura’s Homekey Plus application (Presenter: Kimberlee 
Albers) 
The County of Ventura, in partnership with Dignity Moves, as co-applicant and developer, and Many 
Mansions, as co-applicant and operator/Lead Services Provider, are proposing to develop and operate an 
89-unit Homekey+ Permanent Supportive Housing (PSH) project on a portion of a 53-acre parcel owned by 
the County of Ventura. The project will provide 88 studio units of PSH for members of the Homekey+ 
Target Population, including 40 persons experiencing homelessness, 30 persons experiencing chronic 
homelessness and 18 persons at-risk of homelessness. One additional two-bedroom unit will be reserved 
for an unrestricted on-site resident manager. 

 
Additional items not on the agenda: none 
 
Next meeting set for May 14th, 2025 
Meeting adjourned at 2:57pm  

 



 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

May 14, 2025 

VC CoC Governance Board 

 
SUBJECT:  Receive and File the Ventura County Homeless Management Information System and 
Pathways to Home Coordinated Entry System (VC HMIS/PTH CES) Report. 

 

The County of Ventura, Human Services Agency operates and manages the VC HMIS/PTH CES as 
required by HUD through the Ventura County Continuum of Care (VC CoC) program.  The VCHMIS team 
drafts annual goals and a strategic plan in accordance with the VC CoC’s Strategic Plan, for approval by 
the VC HMIS/PTH CES Steering Committee. This report includes updates on progress in achieving goals 
and next steps on the strategic plan. 

 

Recommendations:  Receive feedback from CoC Board on the VC HMIS/PTH CES report and discuss 
areas for system improvements and provide guidance on next steps. 

 
 

 

 



 
 

1 
H.S.A. CAE HMIS/CES Narrative 

Ventura County Homeless Management Information System/  
Pathways to Home - Coordinated Entry System - Narrative and Analysis 

April 2025 
 
Projects/Grants 
 
HMIS / CES Expansion Grant  
We continue to operate HMIS / CES under one grant overseen by the VC CoC.     
 
Online Training Project 
The VC HMIS received a Homeless Housing Assistance and Prevention Program (HHAP) grant in July of 2019 to migrate 
existing training to an online platform to increase and enhance training for service providers.  Trainings include the 
standard “just in time” courses as well as new user trainings. Examples: To date, 8 trainings sessions have been recorded 
and are live, though need some revision given a recent change in system updates. We have been successful in 
converting CES part 1& 2 to the online platform as well. We have continued to expand the available catalog by including 
Case Management Training, Chronic Homeless Documentation, the Road to Case Conferencing and Vulnerability 
Assessment Tool Training.  Moving forward we will focus on Literal Homeless Documentation training. Our intent is that 
new case workers acquire a more thorough understanding of the process. This should prove beneficial as we are 
experiencing a sizable number of new PSH unit availability and expect continued growth in the coming year. 
 
Continuous Process Improvement 

• To respond to the request for additional training we have implemented ‘Just-in-Time’ sessions to focus on 
specific areas within the HMIS system that an end-user may be struggling with. These sessions are now available 
online. (see above) These sessions also satisfy the HMIS mandated annual refresher training requirement and 
the convenience of having it online for completion when desired has proven a convenience to providers. The 
continued incorporation of office hours has helped address some of the unique challenges that our end user 
may experience and are available weekly.  

• The HMIS/ CES team has added additional trainings to support users by offering: The Road to Case Conferencing, 
Chronic Homeless Documentation, and Quarterly Reporting, that includes a focus on EVA reporting and Data 
Quality Framework, the Vulnerability Assessment Tool Training, System Performance Measures Data Elements. 

• We continue to provide additional trainings to our HMIS community that are not specific to the system but 
rather support the provider in their service to the population. The trainings that have been made available over 
the last year are: Excessive Persuasion: From Undue Influence to Scan Victimization, Communicating with 
Dementia, and Principles of Trauma Informed Services: Safety Approach.  

• We continue to assess the functionality of the Vulnerability Assessment Tool. 
• Continued review of our HMIS Strategic Plan to ensure that it is aligned with our vision and mission statement.  
• Support multiple agencies to enhance efforts to align processes with CES policies.  
• Continual on-boarding of new partner agencies and projects into our system. 
• Development of new forms to assist service providers with Case Conferencing to reduce paperwork needed and 

assist with completion of Chronic Homeless packet  
• Full utilization of document submission portal for both HMIS and CES. 
• Ongoing focus on Data Quality improvement within the system.  
• Completed annual HMIS Provider Satisfaction Survey. Survey was sent to 280 end users and 17%, or 48 people, 

responded. 

Note: We continue to partner with HSA’s Business Technology Department and HMIS vendor to ensure system use and 
current technology and system interface remains beneficial to community needs. 

 



 
 

2 
H.S.A. CAE HMIS/CES Narrative 

Data Sharing Partnerships  

Data sharing agreements remain in place with the following entities: Ventura County Behavioral Health; Workforce 
Development Board; HSA Homeless Services – Housing and Disability Assistance Program; & the VC CoC Veterans 
Services One Team. The HMIS team pulls relevant data to be shared monthly which allows better connection to services 
between those experiencing or at risk of homelessness and those connected to the programs listed above.   

STATISTICS –  
1. Number of HMIS Participating Agencies: 

FY  22/23 23/24 Current YTD 
# of Agencies 35 41 47 

   
2. Number of HMIS Licensed Users: 

 
 
 
 

 
3. Number of HMIS License Updates 

 
 
 
 

 
4. Number of Trainings Provided:  

FY  22/23  23/24 Current YTD 

# of Trainings 76 65 37 
# of online 
modules 
completed 

361 999 1,837 

 
Trainings offered include:  
 HMIS New User - Coordinated Entry System  
 HMIS New User - Case Management 
 VC CoC Programs (collaboration) 
 HMIS Quarterly Reporting (EVA & Business Objects) 
 Vulnerability Assessment Tool (VAT)   
 Road to Case Conferencing 
 Chronic Homeless Documentation 
 HMIS Just-In-Time- Eligibility & Referral  
 HMIS Just-In-Time Referral Disposition and Household Set Up  
 HMIS Just-In-Time Project Entry with a Household 
 HMIS Just-In-Time Referral Closure and CES Exits  
 HMIS Just-In-Time Case Manager Assignment & Providing a Service  
 HMIS Just-In-Time Interim Updates 
 HMIS Just-In-Time Annual Assessments 
 HMIS Just-In-Time Project Exit 

 

FY  22/23 23/24 Current YTD  
# of Users* 218 234 279 
*Does not include HMIS & CoC staff.                                                         

FY  22/23 23/24 Current YTD 
# of Updates* 253 232 248 
*This includes all add, delete, and disable user requests.  



 
 

3 
H.S.A. CAE HMIS/CES Narrative 

5. Number of Agency Onboarding requests 
FY  22/23  23/24 Current YTD 
# of Requests 8 7 8 
    

 
6. Number of Custom Ad Hoc Reports  

FY 22/23 23/24 Current YTD 
# of Request 17 13 9 
Includes CoC & provider specific requests 

 
CES Data: 
The information listed below relates to only data entered in HMIS.   
1. Total Number of Referrals 

FY  22/23  23/24 Current YTD 
# of 
Referrals 2,834  3,354 3395 

 
2. Number of clients matched with housing opportunities 

FY 22/23 23/24 Current YTD 
# of matches 137 142 249 

This is the # of clients matched for all housing opportunities including Permanent Supportive Housing, Permanent 
Housing. Although a client is matched with an opportunity it does not always turn into a placement. 
 

3. Permanent Supportive Housing Placements:  
FY 22/23 23/24 Current YTD 
# of 
Households 137 50 130 

    
 
4. Time frame from Referral to Housed (all types): 

FY 22/23 23/24 Current YTD  
# of Days 102 70 90 

     Permanent Supportive Housing type (tenant based vs. project based) impacts the overall timeframe from when a 
client receives a referral to the date they are housed.  22/23 was high due to an increase in Mainstream/Emergency 
Housing Vouchers that were available. Current time frame is due to new construction of PSH units. 

 
CURRENT PRIORITIES 
In addition to the administration of VC HMIS/CES, below are identified priorities and initiatives:  

• Ensuring both State & Federal System Performance Metrics are reached. 
• Maintain excellent customer service to all HMIS providers, system utilizers and other interested parties. 
• Maintain and ensure accurate and up to date Bed and Unit Inventory to support Housing Inventory Count (HIC) 
• HMIS/CES Data Preparation for Longitudinal System Analysis (LSA) 
• Consideration of a third iteration of CES to ensure best practices based on HUD guidance around prioritization, 

gaining provider input that allows for a more seamless transition to all available housing options and ensures a 
high level of data quality.   

• Ensure that HMIS Vendor is meeting the unique and enhanced needs of the community. 
 



 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

May 14, 2025 

VC CoC Governance Board 

SUBJECT: Approval to Reallocate Youth Set-Aside Grant Funding in the Homeless Housing 
Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) Program Round 3 and Authorize Ventura County CoC Staff 
to Release a Request for Proposals (RFP) for a New Subrecipient. 
 
BACKGROUND:  The Ventura County Continuum of Care (VC CoC) was awarded renewal grant funding 
from the State Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) for the Homeless Housing 
Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) Program Round 3 in the amount of $4.8M with a minimum of ten 
percent (10%) dedicated to youth set aside programs. Subrecipients were awarded grant funding 
through a Request for Proposals (RFP) process for the grant term of July 1, 2021 through April 30, 2026. 
The HHAP-3 youth set aside grant funds were awarded to California State University Channel Islands 
(CSUCI) for TAY Interim Sheltering in the amount of $263,415.44 and Oxnard College for TAY Homeless 
Prevention in the amount of $219,527.00. VC CoC Staff have closely monitored expenditures and 
performance of each HHAP subrecipient contract to ensure progress is made and expenditure deadlines 
are met to comply with the State HCD.  

DISCUSSION:  VC CoC Staff have concerns with delayed quarterly reporting, substandard outcomes, and 
minimal expenditures for both TAY HHAP-3 projects with CSUCI and Oxnard College. Staff have 
continued to provide technical assistance and follow up on requests for invoicing. Due to the delays in 
spending, Staff are recommending reallocation of up to $425,000 in TAY HHAP-3 funding to another 
service provider through a Request for Proposals (RFP) process. The VC CoC Data, Performance & 
Evaluation Committee would conduct the scoring and ranking of all proposals with a recommendation to 
be presented to the VC CoC Board for review and approval on July 9, 2025. The HHAP-3 grant term ends 
on April 30, 2026. Based on the grant term remaining, Staff will limit the RFP to HHAP recipients only, to 
prevent any delays in procurement processes. VC CoC staff recommends the following RFP timeline:  

Activity Deadline 
VC CoC staff to release a Request for Proposals (RFP) May 15, 2025 

Request for Proposals due date June 19, 2025 

VC CoC Data Committee Meeting - RFP Recommendation Process June 25, 2025 

VC CoC Staff present a recommendation to VC CoC Board July 9, 2025 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

1) Approve the Reallocation of the Continuum of Care (CoC) HHAP-3 Youth Set-Aside Grant 
Funding in an amount up to $425,000; and  

2) Authorize VC CoC staff to release a Request for Proposals (RFP) on May 15, 2025 for a new 
HHAP-3 Youth Set-Aside subrecipient with the proposed timeline.  



 

 

 

 

May 14, 2025 
 
VC CoC Governance Board  
 
SUBJECT: Approval of the 2025 Ventura County Homeless Count Volunteer Survey 

Background: The 2025 Homeless Point-In-Time (PIT) Count was completed on January 22, 2025 with the 
support of community leaders, city staff, county staff, service providers, and nearly 400 volunteers! The 
Ventura County Continuum of Care (VC CoC) is mandated by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development (HUD) to conduct an annual PIT Count and Subpopulation Survey of individuals 
experiencing homelessness throughout the CoC’s geographic area. Each year, CoC staff coordinate with 
jurisdiction leads to carry out the sheltered and unsheltered counts. 

At the October 9th, 2024 VC CoC Board meeting, the Board directed staff to conduct a post-count survey 
to gather feedback from community members and stakeholders regarding their participation and overall 
experience. 

Discussion: The attached 2025 Ventura County Homeless Count Survey (Exhibit A) was developed 
collaboratively by the VC CoC Housing and Services Committee. Committee members, representing 
various jurisdictions, contributed diverse insights that informed the survey design. 

The purpose of the survey is to collect input and perspectives in the following key areas: 

1. Volunteer background and experience (e.g., years of participation) 
2. Training effectiveness and suggestions for improvement 
3. User experience with the mobile application (usability and functionality on the day of the count) 
4. Coordination and communication with city leads 
5. Overall experience on the day of the count 
6. Feedback regarding donations and logistics 
7. Open-ended comments and reflections that could benefit the broader community 

Collecting stakeholder feedback is essential to the continuous improvement of the Homeless Count 
process. The successful planning and implementation of the Ventura County Homeless Count relies on 
collaboration among numerous community partners and stakeholders. 

Recommendation: Approve the 2025 Ventura County Homeless Count Survey (Exhibit A) to solicit 
feedback from Homeless Count volunteers. 



 
2025 Ventura County Homeless Count 

Volunteer Feedback Survey 

 

Introduction: 

Thank you for volunteering for this year’s Homeless Point In Time Count. Your feedback helps us 
improve the experience for future volunteers. Please take 5-10 minutes to share your thoughts on the 
app, training, coordination, and the overall experience. 

 

1. Volunteer Background 

• How many times have you volunteered for the Homeless Count? 

o First time 

o 2–3 times 

o More than 3 times 

• What city or area did you conduct the count in? (Select one) 

o Camarillo 

o Fillmore 

o Moorpark 

o Ojai 

o Oxnard 

o Port Hueneme 

o Santa Paula 

o Simi Valley 

o Thousand Oaks 

o Ventura 

o Unincorporated areas (please specify): __________ 

Other (please specify): __________ 
 

2. Training 

• How would you rate the training materials provided? 

o Excellent 

o Good 



 
o Fair 

o Poor 

• Was the training easy to understand and follow? 

o Yes 

o No 

o Somewhat 

• What suggestions do you have to improve the training? _________________________ 

3. App Experience 

• Was the Counting Us Mobile app easy to download and access? 

o Yes 

o No 

• How would you rate your experience using the Counting Us Mobile app during the count? 

o Excellent 

o Good 

o Fair 

o Poor 

• Did you encounter any issues using the Counting Us Mobile app? (please explain) 
___________________ 

4. City Leads & Coordination 

• How helpful and organized was your city lead? 

o Very helpful 

o Somewhat helpful 

o Not helpful 

• Did you feel supported and informed the morning of the count? 

o Yes 

o No 

o Somewhat 

• Did you know where to meet the morning of the count? 

o Yes 
o No 



 
• Did you know the area (count zone) you were supposed to count in? 

Yes 

No 

If not, were you provided a printed map and was the map explained to you? 

Yes 

No 

 

5. Day-of Experience 

• How would you rate your overall experience during the count? 

o Excellent 

o Good 

o Fair 

o Poor 

• Did you feel safe and prepared? 

o Yes 

o No 

• Did you feel easily identified as a volunteer? 

Yes 

No 

• Do you have any suggestions to improve the count experience in the future? 

Yes 

No  

• If no, please share your suggestions:_______________________________ 

• Did you feel comfortable approaching individuals or vehicles? 

 Yes 

 No  

 

6. Donations 

 Did you receive hygiene kits for the day of the count? 

 Yes 



 
 No 

If yes, did you have enough? 

Yes 

No 

7.  Were you a new volunteer and paired up with another new volunteer? 

 Yes 

 No 

8. Were you a new volunteer and paired up with an experienced volunteer? 

 Yes 

 No 

7. Final Thoughts 

• What motivated you to volunteer for the count? 

• Would you be interested in volunteering again next year? 

o Yes 

o No 

o Maybe 

• Any additional comments or feedback? 

• Please share an experience or story you had that we could share with our community? 

• Did you have stereotypes before that may have changed by this experience? If so, please 
explain:_____________ 

• Any words of inspiration we can share with the community? 

 

 
 



 

 

 

May 14, 2025 

VC CoC Governance Board 

SUBJECT: Approval of the State Homeless Housing Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) Program 

Round 6 Timeline with Authorization to apply for HHAP Round 6 and authorize CoC Board Chair to 

execute a Memorandum of Understanding between the County of Ventura and Ventura County 

Continuum of Care which will include the updated Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action 

Plan. 

 
BACKGROUND:  The intent of HHAP 6 is to reflect the state’s priorities to prevent and expeditiously 

reduce unsheltered homelessness through homelessness prevention activities and sustain existing 

Interim Housing Solutions and Permanent Housing Solutions, including long-term sustainability of 

permanent affordable housing (HSC section 50243(a)). To accomplish these goals, HHAP 6 requires 

applicants to create/update and implement Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plans (HSC 

section 50240). HHAP 6 is a grant program authorized by Section 13 of AB 166 (Chapter 48, Statutes of 

2024; Health & Safety Code (HSC) Section 50239, et seq.), which was signed into law by Governor Gavin 

Newsom on July 2, 2024. HHAP funding is a block grant/ noncompetitive allocation; an application is 

required to access predetermined amount of funding. The Legislature appropriated $1 billion to fund 

HHAP activities in Fiscal Year 2024- 2025. Beginning with Round 4, only 50% of the funds are available; 

the additional 50% will be released upon successful draw down of initial disbursement with System 

Performance Metric improvements. HHAP funds should be housing-focused, either funding permanent 

housing interventions directly and have clear pathways to connect people to permanent housing.  

 

HHAP 6 Grant Requirements: 

1. While HHAP 6 requires that regions submit one coordinated application, each Eligible Applicant 

within a region must choose one of the following options, receive and administer their allocation or 

designate one of the Eligible Applicants within their region to receive and administer their HHAP 6 

allocation. 

✓ In January 2021, the County Executive Office was authorized as the Administrative 
Entity for the Ventura County Continuum of Care whereas the CoC serves as the 
regional collaborative entity that makes funding determinations for homeless 
assistance programs and supports the regional homeless services system. 

2. Engage in a public stakeholder process while developing the HHAP 6 application 
✓ VC CoC staff shall conduct public stakeholder engagements through the VC CoC 

Alliance meeting, Housing and Services Committee, Data Performance and Evaluation 
Committee and persons with lived experience. 

 
 
 



3. Update the HHAP 5 Approved Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan 
✓ VC CoC staff shall update the approved local homeless action plan and landscape 

analysis to include the required elements by working with the Community 
Development Housing Team and reviewing each jurisdiction’s Housing Element plan 

4. Update the HHAP 5 Approved Regional Partner Roles and Responsibilities. Applicants must identify 

and describe the specific roles and responsibilities of each participating applicant within the region. 

✓ VC CoC staff shall update approved Regional Partner Roles and Responsibilities in 
partnership with stakeholders and county staff. 

5. System Performance improvement plan. The System Performance Measures Improvement Plan is a 

critical component of the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. This section documents 

all the key actions the regional partners are taking to improve their homelessness CA SPMs. 

✓ VC CoC staff shall update the regionally coordinated homelessness action plan to align key 

actions to address homelessness. 

6. HHAP 6 Funding Plans 

✓ VC CoC staff shall gather input and feedback from the community and stakeholders to align 

available funding with gaps and needs. 

7. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) must be submitted with the application and must be signed 

by each participating applicant committing to participate in and comply with the Regionally 

Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan.  

✓ VC CoC staff shall update the Memorandum of Understanding to align with HHAP 6 activities 

8. Post the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan Per HSC 50235 sections (g) and 
(h)(11), participating applicants or CoC entities involved in the Regionally Coordinated 
Homelessness Action Plan are required to publish the proposed, approved, and amended 
versions of their Action Plans on their respective internet websites. 

✓ VC CoC shall post the proposed, amended and approved Homelessness Action Plan on 
the VC CoC Website. 

9. At least 10 percent of each HHAP 6 allocation must be spent on services for homeless youth (HSC 

50241(e)), and there are no prohibitions on spending a greater percentage on the Youth Set Aside. 

State approved funding amounts pre-determined by HHAP 6 application  

✓ VC CoC shall solicit requests for proposals to ensure the 10 percent youth set aside is met. 

 
DISCUSSION: 

HHAP 6 funding was allocated to the local Ventura County CoC. The total combined funding made 
available to the Ventura County Continuum of Care, and County of Ventura Administrative Entity is 
$5,564,394.36 ($2,873,703.79 CoC/ $2,690,690.57-County) . Funding will be released in phases.   

➢ The initial disbursement ($2,782,197.18) has obligation and expenditure requirements have 
that include:  

✓ The Administrative Entity must have contractually obligated 100 percent of 

HHAP rounds 1 through 3.  

✓ The Administrative Entity must have expended 100 percent of HHAP Round 1 or 

returned any funds remaining after the 6/30/2025 expenditure deadline.  

✓ The Administrative Entity must have expended at least 50 percent of their 

funding and contractually obligated at least 75 percent of their funding from the 

first disbursement of HHAP Round 4.  



✓ In addition, in order to facilitate HCD’s evaluation of whether these 

requirements have been met, and its evaluation of progress on California 

System Performance Measures (CA SPMs), the Administrative Entity must be in 

good standing on reporting for HHAP rounds 1 through 5, including fiscal 

reporting and reporting into HMIS. 

➢ Remainder Disbursement will be released once: 

o Housing Element Compliance: Demonstrate that it has a compliant housing 

element as defined in HSC section 65589.9 of the Government Code (Applies to 

Large City and county Grantees only) 

o Demonstrate Sufficient Spenddown: Grantees must obligate at least 75 percent 

of the initial HHAP 6 disbursement and expend at least 50 percent of the initial 

HHAP 6 disbursement no later than June 30, 2027. 

o Update on the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan: Submit, and 

have approved by HCD, an update to their Regionally Coordinated 

Homelessness Action Plan. Each region must submit an update to their 

Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan activities to HCD no later than 

January 31, 2027 (HSC section 50242(h)) 

The draft MOU with County of Ventura is attached to this report and details out key action items of the 
VC CoC and County of Ventura. The first step is memorializing this partnership through this initial MOU 
which may be updated through addendums to include additional processes and resources to support 
the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. 
 
Before submitting the State application by August 29, 2025, VC CoC staff must prepare the following: 

o Evaluate system performance metrics data;  

o Conduct a permanent and interim housing needs/gaps analysis; 

o Execute a Memorandum of Understanding between the County of Ventura and Ventura 

County Continuum of Care; 

o Update Local Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan;  

o Adopt a formal policy on encampment response in alignment with State guidance; 

o Map all encampments within the County with a resolution plan; 

o Prepare planned expenditure categories and strategic intent (Funding plans); 

o Complete the Application Narrative. 

 

Eligible Activities in Order of State Priorities 

Permanent Housing Solutions that can prevent or serve those experiencing unsheltered homelessness, 

including, but not limited to persons experiencing homelessness coming from encampment sites; per HSC 

50243(e)(1) 

❖ Rapid Rehousing/Rental Subsidies, per HSC 50243(e)(1)(A)-(C), and HSC 50243(e)(2)(A)  

❖ Operating Subsidies – Permanent Housing, per HSC 50243(e)(1)(D)   

❖ Permanent Housing Services and Services Coordination, per HSC 50243(e)(1)(E) and (G)  

❖ Capital for Permanent Housing, per HSC 50243(e)(1)(F)   



Homelessness Prevention Activities that can prevent or serve those experiencing unsheltered homelessness, 

including, but not limited to, persons experiencing homelessness coming from encampment sites. 

❖ Prevention and Diversion, per HSC 50243(e)(2)(A and B) 

Interim Housing Solutions that can prevent or serve those experiencing unsheltered homelessness, including, 

but not limited to, persons experiencing homelessness coming from encampment sites. 

❖ Navigation Centers, per HSC 50243(e)(3)(A)   

❖ Motel/Hotel Vouchers, per HSC 50243(e)(3)(D)   

❖ Operating Expenses – Interim Housing, per HSC 50243(e)(3)(B) and (C)  

❖ Interim Housing Services and Services Coordination, per HSC 50243(e)(3)(E) and (H) 

❖ Capital for New Interim Housing, per HSC 50243(e)(3)(F), (G), and (J) 

❖ Improvements to Existing Interim Housing, per HSC 50243(e)(3)(I)  

Non-housing Solutions that can prevent or serve those experiencing unsheltered homelessness, including, but 

not limited to, persons experiencing homelessness coming from encampment sites. 

❖ Services Coordination for People Experiencing Unsheltered Homelessness, per HSC 50243(e)(4)   

Homeless Management Information System (HMIS)  

❖ HMIS (Up to 1 percent of allocation amount)   

 

Key items to consider: 

With the availability of funds, and Pursuant to HSC section 50243(d), before an applicant that proposes 

to use HHAP 6 funding for either: New Interim Housing (defined as eligible uses HSC 50243 (e)(3)), other 

than New Interim Housing that meets the Youth Set Aside requirement, or any Non-Housing Solutions 

(defined as eligible uses HSC 50243(e)(4)), the applicant must demonstrate there is not a financial gap in 

sustaining the existing and proposed portfolio of permanent affordable housing within their region. A 

comprehensive portfolio of the total permanent affordable housing developments and units in the 

region must be submitted along with developments at risk of expiring in the region between FY 24/25-

28/29 and the total developments proposed that are currently seeking permanent housing funding or 

operations supporting (must include capital and operating costs) to demonstrate the funding gaps. 

 
Proposed Local Timeline for HHAP-6 funding: 

Activity Deadline 

Stakeholder Engagement Hybrid Meeting  April 17, 2025 

VC CoC Data Committee – Stakeholder Engagement Meeting May 7, 2025 

VC CoC Board authorizes staff to apply for HHAP Round 6 May 14, 2025 

People with Lived Experience Focus Group – Engagement/Feedback June 2025 (Date TBD) 

Memorandum of Understanding Approved by Board of Supervisors August 12, 2025 

HHAP 6 Recommendations presented to VC CoC Board August 13, 2025 

VC CoC Staff to submit the final application to the State HCD No later than August 29, 2025 

VC CoC Staff issue HHAP 6 Request for Proposals Fall 2025 



 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

1. Authorize VC CoC Staff to apply for the Homeless Housing Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) 
Program Round 6; and   

2. Approve the local timeline for HHAP-6; and 

3. Authorize the VC CoC Board Chair to execute a Memorandum of Understanding with the County 
of Ventura which will include the updated Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan 

 

Exhibit A: State of California Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention (HHAP) 6 Grant Notice 

of Funding Availability 

Exhibit B:  State of California Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) 6 Grant 

Application 

Exhibit C:  Memorandum of Understanding between the County of Ventura and Ventura County 

Continuum of Care 

Exhibit D:  HHAP 6 Stakeholder Engagement Survey Results as of 5.5.2025 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


   
 

 

Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Program 
ROUND 6 (HHAP 6) 

 
2025 Notice of Funding Availability  

 

 
 

Gavin Newsom, Governor  
State of California 

 
Tomiquia Moss, Secretary 

Business, Consumer Services and Housing Agency 
 

Gustavo Velasquez, Director 
California Department of Housing and Community Development 

 
651 Bannon Street, Suite 400 

Sacramento, CA 95811 
Telephone: (916) 263-6928 

 
Website:  https://www.hcd.ca.gov  

HHAP Website: Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) Grant Program | 
California Department of Housing and Community Development 

HHAP Round 6 Program Email:  hpdhomelessnessgrants@hcd.ca.gov   
 
 

February 2025

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/grants-and-funding/programs-active/homeless-housing-assistance-and-prevention-grant-program
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/grants-and-funding/programs-active/homeless-housing-assistance-and-prevention-grant-program
mailto:hpdhomelessnessgrants@hcd.ca.gov


   
 

 

Table of Contents 
 

I. OVERVIEW ......................................................................................................................................................... 2 
A. Authorizing Statute ......................................................................................................................................... 2 
B. Purpose And Program Objectives ..................................................................................................................... 2 
C. Application Timeline ....................................................................................................................................... 4 
D. Available Funding ............................................................................................................................................ 4 

II. ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................................................................... 5 
A. Eligible Applicants ........................................................................................................................................... 5 
B. Definition of “Region” ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

III. ELIGIBLE USES .................................................................................................................................................... 6 
IV. APPLICATION SUBMISSION, REVIEW, AND AWARD PROCESS ............................................................................. 11 

A. Application Required Components ................................................................................................................ 11 
1. Required Components – Regional Identification and Contracting Information ........................................ 11 
2. Required Components – Documentation of Stakeholder Engagement ................................................... 12 
3. Required Components – Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan .......................................... 13 
4. Required Components - HHAP 6 Funding Plan(s) ................................................................................... 19 
5. Required Components – Regional Memorandum of Understanding ...................................................... 21 

B. Developing and Submitting a Complete HHAP 6 Application .......................................................................... 22 
1. Leverage HHAP 5 Application Components ........................................................................................... 22 
2. Applicants must post Proposed, Amended, and Approved Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action 

Plans .................................................................................................................................................... 22 
3. Submitting a Complete HHAP 6 Application .......................................................................................... 22 

V. FUNDS DISBURSEMENT .................................................................................................................................... 23 
A. Initial Disbursement ...................................................................................................................................... 23 
B. Remainder Disbursement .............................................................................................................................. 24 

VI. MONITORING, DOCUMENTATION, AND REPORTING ........................................................................................ 25 
A. Reporting ...................................................................................................................................................... 25 
B. Budget Modifications .................................................................................................................................... 27 
C. Fiscal Deadlines ............................................................................................................................................. 27 
D. Other Requirements ..................................................................................................................................... 28 
E. Legal Documents .......................................................................................................................................... 29 

VII. RESOURCES AND CONTACT INFORMATION ...................................................................................................... 29 
VIII. APPENDICES .................................................................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix A: HHAP Statute ........................................................................................................................................ 30 
Appendix B: Definitions .............................................................................................................................................. 47 
Appendix C: HHAP 6 Allocation Methodology Overview ................................................................................................... 55 
 



   
 

2 
 

I. OVERVIEW 

The California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD or 
Department) is pleased to announce the availability of Homeless Housing, Assistance 
and Prevention (HHAP) Program Round 6 (HHAP 6) grant funding. The intent of HHAP 6 
is to reflect the state’s priorities to prevent and expeditiously reduce unsheltered 
homelessness through homelessness prevention activities and sustain existing Interim 
Housing Solutions and Permanent Housing Solutions, including long-term sustainability of 
permanent affordable housing. 
 
The Legislature appropriated $1 billion to fund HHAP activities in Fiscal Year 2024-
2025. This NOFA makes available $760 million in HHAP 6 Fiscal Year 2024-2025 (FY 
24-25) funds to regions made up of eligible Large Cities, counties, and 
Continuums of Care (CoCs).  
 

A. Authorizing Statute 
HHAP 6 is a grant program authorized by Section 13 of AB 166 (Chapter 48, Statutes of 
2024; Health & Safety Code (HSC) Section 50239, et seq.), which was signed into law 
by Governor Gavin Newsom on July 2, 2024. 
 
HSC section 50239(h) states that “In administering this article, the Department shall not 
be subject to the rulemaking provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter 
3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the 
Government Code).” This NOFA establishes the Department’s guidelines for HHAP 6, 
including the terms, conditions, forms, procedures, and other mechanisms that the 
Department deems necessary to administer HHAP 6. The guidelines contained in this 
NOFA are adopted as if they have the “dignity of statutes.” (Ramirez v. Yosemite Water 
Company, Inc. (1999) 20. Cal. 4th 785, 799.) 

Appendix A provides reference to key statutes that support HHAP implementation and 
guidance. 

B. Purpose And Program Objectives 
The intent of HHAP 6 is to reflect the state’s priorities to prevent and expeditiously 
reduce unsheltered homelessness through homelessness prevention activities and 
sustain existing Interim Housing Solutions and Permanent Housing Solutions, including 
long-term sustainability of permanent affordable housing (HSC section 50243(a)). To 
accomplish these goals, HHAP 6 requires applicants to create and implement 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plans (HSC section 50240). 
 
HCD also expects applicants to: 
 

• Foster robust regional collaboration and strategic partnerships aimed at fortifying 
the homeless services and housing delivery system. This should be achieved 
through the formulation of data-driven and cross-system plans designed to 



   
 

3 
 

allocate resources in alignment with the state's priorities for housing solutions for 
people experiencing homelessness. This means implementing strategies that 
create and sustain regional partnerships and emphasize Permanent Housing 
Solutions. 

• Ensure all cities and counties in the region are addressing existing unsheltered 
homelessness, including encampments, and preventing future homelessness by 
planning for future housing needs and following all state housing laws and the 
California Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH) Guidance on 
Addressing Encampments. Jurisdictions must adopt compliant housing elements 
and implement their respective housing element programs, resolve and avoid 
state housing law violations, and implement practices to utilize surplus land for 
the production of affordable housing.  

• Ensure the long-term sustainability of housing and supportive services by 
strategically pairing HHAP 6 funds with other local, state, and federal resources 
to effectively reduce and ultimately end homelessness.  

• Demonstrate sufficient resources dedicated to Interim Housing and long-term 
Permanent Housing Solutions, including capital and operating costs. 

• Demonstrate a commitment to address racial disproportionality in homeless 
populations and achieve equitable provision of services and outcomes for Black, 
Native and Indigenous, Latinx, Asian, Pacific Islanders and other People of Color 
who are disproportionately impacted by homelessness. 

• Establish a mechanism for people with lived experience of homelessness to have 
meaningful and purposeful opportunities to inform and shape all levels of 
planning and implementation, including through opportunities to hire people with 
lived experience. 

• Fund projects that provide housing and services that are Housing First compliant, 
per HSC section 50241(f), which references Welfare and Institutions Code 8255 
and 8256, and delivered in a low barrier, trauma informed, and culturally 
responsive manner. Individuals and families assisted with these funds must not 
be required to receive treatment or perform any other prerequisite activities as a 
condition for receiving interim or permanent housing, or other services for which 
these funds are used. Housing First should be adopted within the entire local 
homelessness response system, including outreach and interim housing, short-
term interventions like Rapid Rehousing, and longer-term interventions like 
supportive housing. 

• Prioritize the use of HHAP funds to assist people to remain in or move into safe, 
stable, Permanent Housing. HHAP funding should be housing-focused -- either 
funding Permanent Housing interventions directly or, if used for Interim Housing 
or street outreach, have clear pathways to connect people to Permanent Housing 
options. 

https://bcsh.ca.gov/calich/documents/encampmentguide.pdf
https://bcsh.ca.gov/calich/documents/encampmentguide.pdf


   
 

4 
 

C. Application Timeline 
HCD will notify Eligible Applicants when this NOFA is posted and becomes available.  
Applications will be due no later than August 29, 2025. 

 
HCD staff will be hosting a Zoom webinar to walk through this NOFA and the application 
requirements on March 18, 2025. HCD will use the regularly scheduled March 
Homelessness Grants Office Hours webinar for this NOFA and Application walk-
through. 
 
HHAP 6 Application and Award Process 
Action Timeframe 
NOFA and Final Allocations Available February 2025 
NOFA and Application Walk-through March 18, 2025 
Final Applications Due August 29, 2025 
HCD reviews and approves application or 
requests and reviews amendments 

Rolling, Estimated August–December 
2025 

 
D. Available Funding 

 
The Legislature appropriated $1 billion to fund various HHAP activities in Fiscal Year 
2024-2025 (FY 24-25), less $50 million in program administration. This NOFA makes 
available $760 million in HHAP 6 funds to regions made up of eligible cities, counties, and 
Continuums of Care (CoCs).  
 
The FY 24-25 HHAP appropriation also funds $28.5 million for Tribal HHAP 4, and 
$161.5 million for HHAP Homekey Supplemental funding, which is administered by 
HCD under the Non-Veterans Homekey+ and Tribal Homekey+ programs. The $161.5 
million FY 24-25 HHAP Homekey Supplemental was paired with the $161.5 million FY 
23-24 HHAP Homekey Supplemental, for a total of $323 million HHAP Homekey 
Supplemental funds, which were made available through the Non-Veterans Homekey+ 
NOFA ($290.7 million) and Tribal Homekey+ NOFA ($32.3 million) released on 
November 26, 2024. 

Summary of Total HHAP FY 24-25 Funding  

Category Amount 
Total FY 24-25 HHAP Funding $1 billion 
HHAP 6 Regional Allocations – Covered by this NOFA $760 million 
Tribal HHAP 4 $28.5 million 
Non-Veterans Homekey+ (HHAP FY 24-25 Homekey Supplemental) $145.35 million 
Tribal Homekey+ (HHAP FY 24-25 Homekey Supplemental) $16.15 million 
Program Administration $50 million 



   
 

5 
 

Summary of HHAP 6 Regional Allocation Percentages 

Per HSC 50241, HHAP Round 6 funding will be made available as non-competitive 
allocations to Eligible Applicants, including CoCs, Large Cities, and Counties, as 
follows: 

Category Percentage of HHAP 6 
Regional Allocations 

Allocation 
Amount 

Continuums of Care (CoCs) 30% $228 million 
Large Cities 42% $319.2 million 
Counties 28% $212.8 million 

 
Individual HHAP 6 allocations for each of the Eligible Applicants is based on their 
proportionate share of the state’s homeless population as reported by the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) in the 2024 Homeless Point in 
Time (PIT) count.  
 
The HHAP 6 Methodology is described in Appendix C within this NOFA.  
 

II. ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  
 

A. Eligible Applicants  
Eligible Applicants for HHAP 6 program funds are the same as in Round 5 of HHAP 
funding, which include: 

• California's 44 CoCs identified by HUD. 

• California’s 14 cities with a population of 300,000 or more as of January 1, 2022. 

• California’s 58 counties. 
 
Per HSC section 50240(a), Eligible Applicants must apply as part of a region and be a 
signatory to a Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan that has been 
approved by HCD.  
 

B. Definition of “Region” 
For purposes of HHAP Rounds 5 and 6, the term “region” refers to the geographic area 
served by a county, including all cities and the CoC or CoCs within it (HSC section 
50230(v)). A region that has a CoC that serves multiple counties may submit a plan that 
covers multiple counties and the cities within them, and multi-county regions that are 
served by the same CoC are strongly encouraged to apply as one region.  
However, the CoC may participate in the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action 
Plan of each individual county that is part of the CoC along with the cities within each 
county.  



   
 

6 
 

All CoCs within the County of Los Angeles shall be considered part of a single region, 
along with the county and eligible cities within the county, and therefore must apply 
together.  
 
Note: All Eligible Applicants participating in the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness 
Action Plan must meet all HHAP 6 application and eligibility requirements before their 
regional application can be approved and their HHAP 6 allocation(s) disbursed by HCD.  
 

III. ELIGIBLE USES 
In line with HSC 50243(e), below is a table summarizing the eligible uses of HHAP 6 
funds by Eligible Use Categories, including descriptions and examples: 
 

HHAP 6 
Statute 

Eligible Use 
Category 

Explanation and examples of eligible 
uses under this eligible use category 

Category #1: 
Permanent 
Housing 
Solutions that 
can prevent or 
serve those 
experiencing 
unsheltered 
homelessness, 
including, but 
not limited to, 
persons 
experiencing 
homelessness 
coming from 
encampment 
sites; per HSC 
50243(e)(1) 

Rapid Rehousing/ 
Rental Subsidies, per 
HSC 50243(e)(1)(A)-
(C), and HSC 
50243(e)(2)(A) 

Examples include, but are not limited to: 
• Rental subsidies, including rental 

subsidies in rapid rehousing 
programs or longer-term rental 
subsidy programs. 

• CARE Act petitioning activities and 
support for placement and related 
services for individuals 
(respondents) in the CARE Act 
process. 

• Landlord incentives, such as 
security deposits, holding fees, 
funding for needed repairs, and 
landlord relationship management 
costs. 

• Move-in expenses. 
Operating Subsidies 
– Permanent 
Housing, per HSC 
50243(e)(1)(D) 

• Operating Subsidies in new and 
existing affordable or supportive 
housing units serving people 
experiencing or at risk of 
experiencing homelessness, and 
new or existing residential care 
facilities. 

• Operating Subsidies may include 
capitalized operating reserves 
(funds held in reserve to multiple 
years of operating support, or 
cover large, unexpected operating 
expenses). 



   
 

7 
 

Permanent Housing 
Services and 
Services 
Coordination, per 
HSC 50243(e)(1)(E) 
and (G) 

Supportive services for people in 
Permanent Housing, so long as the 
services are trauma-informed and practice 
harm reduction, to include, but not limited 
to: 

• Intensive case management 
services,  

• Assertive community treatment 
services,  

• Critical time intervention services,  
• Other tenancy support services,  
• Evidence-based employment 

services,  
• Coordinating mental health, 

substance use, and primary care 
treatment, or  

• Other evidence-based supportive 
services to increase housing 
retention. 

• Services coordination, which may 
include access to workforce, 
education, and training programs, 
or other services needed to 
promote housing stability in 
permanent supportive housing. 

Capital for 
Permanent Housing, 
per HSC 
50243(e)(1)(F) 

Capital for Permanent Housing that serves 
people experiencing homelessness, 
including conversion of underutilized 
buildings or existing interim or transitional 
housing into Permanent Housing. 

HHAP 6 
Statute 

Eligible Use 
Category 

Explanation and examples of eligible 
uses under this eligible use category 

Category #2: 
Homelessness 
Prevention 
Activities that 
can prevent or 
serve those 
experiencing 
unsheltered 
homelessness, 
including, but 
not limited to, 
persons 

Prevention and 
Diversion, per HSC 
50243(e)(2)(A and B) 

• In addition to the Rapid Rehousing 
and Rental Assistance being eligible 
as described above, other 
homelessness prevention programs 
are eligible, as long as they prioritize 
households with incomes at or below 
30 percent of the area median 
income (AMI). 

• Problem solving and diversion 
support programs that prevent 
people at risk of or recently 
experiencing homelessness from 



   
 

8 
 

experiencing 
homelessness 
coming from 
encampment 
sites. 

entering unsheltered or sheltered 
homelessness. 

. 

HHAP 6 
Statute 

Eligible Use 
Category 

Explanation and examples of eligible 
uses under this eligible use category 

Category #3: 
Interim 
Housing 
Solutions that 
can prevent or 
serve those 
experiencing 
unsheltered 
homelessness, 
including, but 
not limited to, 
persons 
experiencing 
homelessness 
coming from 
encampment 
sites. 

Navigation Centers, 
per HSC 
50243(e)(3)(A) 

Navigation Centers or other emergency 
shelters that are low barrier as defined in 
Sections 65660 and 65662 of the 
Government Code. 

Motel/Hotel 
Vouchers, per HSC 
50243(e)(3)(D) 

Vouchers for motels and hotels used as 
interim shelter for people experiencing 
homelessness, until they can be connected 
to Permanent Housing resources. 

Operating Expenses 
– Interim Housing, 
per HSC 
50243(e)(3)(B) and 
(C) 

• Operating expenses in existing 
congregate shelter sites. 

• Operating expenses in new or 
existing non-congregate shelters 
sites and transitional housing for 
youth.  

• Operating expenses may include 
capitalized operating reserves 
(funds held in reserve upfront to 
cover multiple years of operations, 
or large, unexpected operating 
expenses). 

Interim Housing 
Services and 
Services 
Coordination, per 
HSC 50243(e)(3)(E) 
and (H) 

Services provided to people in Interim 
Housing, so long as the services are 
trauma-informed and practice harm 
reduction, to include, but are not limited to: 

• Intensive case management 
services,  

• Housing navigation,  
• Connecting people to substance 

use or mental health treatment,  
• Public benefits advocacy,  
• and other supportive services to 

promote stability and referral into 
Permanent Housing. 

• Youth-focused services in 
transitional housing 
 



   
 

9 
 

Capital for New 
Interim Housing, per 
HSC 50243(e)(3)(F), 
(G), and (J) 

Capital funding to build new noncongregate 
shelter sites and transitional housing sites 
for homeless youth, including for 
construction, rehabilitation, and capital 
improvements to convert existing 
congregate sites into noncongregate sites. 
 
Capital funding for clinically enhanced 
congregate or noncongregate shelter sites. 
 

Improvements to 
Existing Interim 
Housing, per HSC 
50243(e)(3)(I) 

Renovation of existing Interim Housing to 
improve the quality of life for people 
experiencing homelessness who are 
residing in the Interim Housing. Examples 
include, but are not limited to: 

• Maintenance of an Interim Housing 
facility. 

• Minor/major rehabilitation or 
renovation of an Interim Housing 
facility. 

• Minor/major conversion, additions, 
updates, and/or enhancements 
that lower barriers and/or increase 
privacy. 

HHAP 6 
Statute 

Eligible Use 
Category 

Explanation and examples of eligible 
uses under this eligible use category 

Category #4: 
Non-housing 
Solutions that 
can prevent or 
serve those 
experiencing 
unsheltered 
homelessness, 
including, but 
not limited to, 
persons 
experiencing 
homelessness 
coming from 
encampment 
sites. 

Services and 
Services 
Coordination for 
People Experiencing 
Unsheltered 
Homelessness, per 
HSC 50243(e)(4) 

Non-housing services for people 
experiencing unsheltered homelessness, so 
long as the services are trauma-informed 
and practice harm reduction, to include, but 
are not limited to: 

• Street outreach 
• Evidence-based engagement 

services 
• Intensive case management 

services 
• Assertive community treatment 
• Housing navigation 
• Harm reduction services 
• Coordination with street-based 

health care services 
• Hygiene services for people living 

in encampments and unsheltered 



   
 

10 
 

individuals 
• Services coordination, which may 

include access to workforce, 
education, and training programs, 
or other services needed to 
promote housing stability 

• Costs that support people with 
lived experience of homelessness 
to participate in and/or provide 
input for regional and system 
planning (e.g., lived experience 
advisory boards, youth advisory 
boards, etc.) 

 
Administrative 
Costs 

Administrative Costs 
(up to 7 percent of 
allocation amount)  

Eligible uses should be categorized here 
when costs are incurred by the city, county, 
or CoC to administer its HHAP program 
allocation. Examples include, but are not 
limited to: 

• Regional coordination  
• HHAP 6 regional planning and 

application process 
• Homeless Management 

Information System (HMIS) 
training, licenses, and/or operating 
costs 

• Reporting  
• Grant administration 

 
Administrative Costs do not include staff or 
other costs directly related to implementing 
activities funded by the program allocation. 

HMIS (Up to 1 
percent of allocation 
amount) 

Eligible uses should be categorized here 
when the Eligible Applicant elects to 
allocate up to 1 percent of their HHAP 6 
allocation to cover expenses associated 
with the administration of HMIS. This 
funding shall be transferred directly to the 
HMIS lead entity and is intended to support 
the functioning, maintenance, and operation 
of the local HMIS. Examples include, but 
are not limited to: 

• System licenses 
• Training 
• System operating costs 



   
 

11 
 

• Costs associated with carrying out 
related activities 

 
HMIS costs may also be supported through 
Administrative Costs (Grantees may use up 
to 7% of allocations toward Administrative 
Costs) and under program costs (in 
categories 1-4) when the activities directly 
support implementing the housing and non-
housing activities funded by the program 
allocation. 

 
IV. APPLICATION SUBMISSION, REVIEW, AND AWARD PROCESS 

 
A. Application Required Components 

To be eligible for a HHAP 6 allocation award, Eligible Applicants for HHAP 6 funding 
must:  

• Conduct stakeholder engagement to support development of the HHAP 6 
Application 

• Apply as part of a region, and as a region, submit a complete HHAP 6 application 
through the application portal provided by HCD. The application must adhere to 
the prescribed formats, include all essential components, and be found by HCD 
to be compliant with all requirements.  

• The application will include the following sections: 
o Regional Identification and Contracting Information 
o Documentation of Stakeholder Engagement 
o Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan: This may be an 

updated version of a previously submitted and approved Regionally 
Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. 
 Regional Partners’ Roles and Responsibilities 
 System Performance Measures Improvement Plan 

o HHAP 6 Funding Plan 
 Sustainability of the Region’s Housing Portfolio 
 Youth Set-Aside 

o Regional Memorandum of Understanding 
 
The minimum HHAP 6 application requirements and guidance for each of the 
application components are described in more detail below.  
 

1. Required Components – Regional Identification and Contracting 
Information  

While Eligible Applicants within a region are required to apply together and to jointly 
complete a Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan, each applicant (large 
city, county, and/or CoC) shall have the discretion to request their allocation directly, 



   
 

12 
 

and act as their own Administrative Entity; or designate an Eligible Applicant in their 
region to administer the funds on their behalf, and act as their Administrative Entity.  
 
This selection will indicate to HCD which Eligible Applicant will enter into contract with 
the state to receive and administer each Eligible Applicant’s HHAP 6 allocation following 
award. The Administrative Entity is responsible for administering the funds, contracting 
(when necessary) with sub-recipients, reporting on HHAP 6 obligations and 
expenditures to HCD, reporting universal data elements for people and families served 
into local HMIS, and meeting the other terms and conditions of the contract. (See 
Section V. “Funds Disbursement” for more information on eligibility requirements for the 
initial and remainder disbursements and See Section VI. “Monitoring, Documentation, 
and Reporting” for more information on the responsibilities of Administrative Entities and 
subrecipients.) 
 
Regional Identification information must be submitted following the prescribed format, 
which must include the name and contact information of each Eligible Applicant that is 
applying as part of the regional application. Additionally, comprehensive contracting 
details must be furnished for all entities that will administer HHAP 6 funding (i.e., 
Administrative Entities). 

While HHAP 6 requires that regions submit one coordinated application, each Eligible 
Applicant within a region must choose one of the following options: 

• Receive and administer their allocation or 
 

• Designate one of the Eligible Applicants within their region to receive and 
administer their HHAP 6 allocation. 

Administrative Entity designations will determine how many funding plans are required 
to be submitted as part of the HHAP 6 regional application. HCD requires one funding 
plan per Administrative Entity. Funding plan guidance is provided below under 
Section IV.A.4: “HHAP 6 Funding Plan(s)”. 
 
Please note, that while small cities and tribal governments should be included in the 
development of the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan, only Eligible 
Applicants for HHAP (Large Cities, Counties, and CoCs) are eligible to receive a direct 
allocation from HCD.  
 

2. Required Components – Documentation of Stakeholder Engagement 
HHAP 6 requires participating applicants within a region to collaborate and engage in a 
public stakeholder process while developing the HHAP 6 application, including the 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. This is intended to ensure that all 
key stakeholders have the opportunity to contribute their valuable insights and 
experiences and inform the proposed actions and funding before the application is 
submitted. The stakeholder engagement should also be used to help inform the 



   
 

13 
 

application’s requirements related to documenting the Sustainability of the 
Region’s Housing Portfolio. 

The public stakeholder process must include at least three public meetings, allowing for 
extensive input from various groups and individuals. During the public stakeholder 
process, participating applicants must invite and encourage all of the following groups 
to engage in the public stakeholder process: 

• People with lived experience of homelessness, including but not limited to 
survivors of domestic violence. 

• Youth with lived experience of homelessness. 
• Local department leaders and staff of qualifying smaller jurisdictions, including 

child welfare, public welfare, health care, behavioral health, justice, and 
education system leaders. 

• Homeless services and housing providers, including developers of permanent 
affordable housing operating within the region. 

• Each Medi-Cal Managed Care Plan contracted with the State Department of 
Health Care Services in the region. 

• Street medicine providers, victim service providers, and other service providers 
directly assisting people within the region experiencing homelessness or at risk 
of homelessness.  

• Federally recognized tribal governments pursuant to Section 4103 of Title 
25 of the United States Code that are within the region. 
 

Applicants will be required to: 
1) certify they engaged in the above-described process as part of developing their 
application 
2) provide the dates of the public meetings 
3) describe how specific groups were invited and encouraged to engage in the public 
stakeholder process, such as copies of meeting invites and invitee list, and  
4) describe the input from public meetings that was incorporated into the application.  
 

3. Required Components – Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action 
Plan 

Applicants must submit a Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan that fully 
complies with HSC section 50240(c). This plan shall lay out a strategic approach to 
address homelessness within the region, emphasizing collaborative efforts among 
participating applicants. The plan must include the following key elements and follow the 
specified process. 
 
In developing their HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plans, 
regions should build upon their approved HHAP 5 Regionally Coordinated 
Homelessness Action Plans. This means regions should leverage and update 
information from their approved HHAP 5 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action 
Plan in corresponding sections of the HHAP 6 application. 



   
 

14 
 

 
a. Sub-Component: Regional Partner’s Roles and Responsibilities: 

Applicants must identify and describe the specific roles and responsibilities of each 
participating applicant within the region as they pertain to:  
 

• Outreach and site coordination: Describe how all participating Eligible Applicants 
are or will begin to coordinate efforts to ensure comprehensive outreach to 
individuals experiencing and at risk of experiencing homelessness in the region 
and coordinate on siting of services, shelters, and interim and permanent housing. 

• Siting and use of available land: Describe how all participating Eligible Applicants 
will coordinate efforts to identify and promote use of available land for the production 
of interim or permanent housing.  

• The development of interim and permanent housing options: Describe how all 
participating Eligible Applicants are engaging housing developers, including non-
profit developers of permanent supportive housing, working in the region to 
coordinate the financing of interim and permanent housing. 

• Coordination and connection to service delivery: Coordinating, connecting, and 
delivering services to individuals experiencing homelessness or at risk of 
experiencing homelessness within the region, including specifying roles and 
coordination plans in relation to the Mental Health Services Act or Behavioral 
Health Services Act, within the region. 

• Policies for Addressing Encampments: Identify the number of encampments 
identified within the region, with specific plans to address these encampments. 
Indicate whether each Eligible Applicant in the region has a current and formal 
policy to address encampments and if so, confirm it complies with the California 
Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH) Guidance on Addressing 
Encampments. Provide a link to the policy. If no formal policy exists, describe 
existing efforts and provide an active commitment to follow the California 
Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH) Guidance on Addressing 
Encampments. HCD may coordinate with Cal ICH in review and approval of 
policies for addressing encampments to confirm compliance with their guidance. 
If an encampment policy is not compliant, it must be updated. 

• OPTIONAL: The roles and responsibilities of smaller jurisdictions and tribal 
governments that have elected to collaborate on the plan may also be included, 
but are not required. 

Large City and county Regional Partners must specifically provide a status update on 
the following critical Roles and Responsibilities for Large City and county Regional 
Partners.  

• Housing element compliance: Indicate that each city and county Eligible 
Applicant has an adopted housing element that HCD has found substantially 

https://bcsh.ca.gov/calich/documents/encampmentguide.pdf
https://bcsh.ca.gov/calich/documents/encampmentguide.pdf
https://bcsh.ca.gov/calich/documents/encampmentguide.pdf
https://bcsh.ca.gov/calich/documents/encampmentguide.pdf


   
 

15 
 

compliant with Housing Element Law, or if not compliant, provide a timeline for all 
relevant milestones to achieve compliance. Milestones include but are not limited 
to submitting revised drafts that address all outstanding findings for HCD’s 
review, submitting required rezones for HCD’s review, adopting the housing 
element, and final review and approval by HCD. Eligible applicants within the 
region must have an adopted housing element that HCD has found substantially 
compliant before receiving their remainder HHAP 6 disbursement.  

• Housing element implementation: Indicate that each city and county Eligible 
Applicant has implemented all programs in their adopted housing element on the 
timelines identified in the housing element, or if they have not, provide a timeline 
and plan to implement the past due programs. 

• Prohousing Designation: Indicate if each Eligible Applicant in the region has 
received the Prohousing Designation, if they have applied, or if they have plans 
to apply in the future. For jurisdictions that have not yet applied, they may identify 
Prohousing Policies (as described in the Prohousing application) that they have 
adopted or plan to adopt in the future.  

• Housing law violations: Indicate that each city and county Eligible Applicant does 
not have any potential or actual violations under investigation by HCD’s Housing 
Accountability Unit or the Attorney General’s Housing Justice Team, or if there is 
a potential or actual violation under investigation, provide a timeline and plan to 
resolve the issue.   

• Surplus land: Indicate that each city and county Eligible Applicant has made a 
central inventory of all surplus land and all lands in excess of their foreseeable 
needs as required by Government Code section 54230, or if they have not, 
provide a timeline and plan to create such an inventory.  

• Annual Progress Report: Indicate that each Large City and county Eligible 
Applicant has submitted a timely and complete annual progress report for, at a 
minimum, the previous two years. 

 
b. Sub-Component: System Performance Measures Improvement Plan 

i. California System Performance Measures 
The California System Performance Measures (CA SPMs) are a standardized set of 
metrics to help regions assess progress towards preventing, reducing, and ending 
homelessness. The current CA SPMs includes all of the following, as well as age, 
gender, racial and ethnic disparities data for each CA SPM:  
 

• Number of people accessing services who are experiencing homelessness. 
 

• Number of people experiencing unsheltered homelessness on a single night 
(unsheltered PIT count). 

 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-community-development/prohousing-designation-program


   
 

16 
 

• Number of people experiencing homelessness who are accessing services for the 
first time in the past two years. 

o While rates of homelessness for those exiting institutional settings is not 
yet an officially tracked CA SPM, applicants must include at least one Key 
Action with a specific focus on reducing first time instances of 
homelessness for those exiting institutional settings, including, but not 
limited to, jails, prisons, and hospitals. 

 
• Number of people exiting homelessness into Permanent Housing. 

 
• Average length of time that people experienced homelessness while accessing 

services. 
 

• Percentage of people who return to homelessness within six months of exiting the 
homelessness response system to Permanent Housing. 

 
• Number of people with successful placements from street outreach projects. 

 
ii. System Performance Measures Improvement Plan: Key Actions 

to Improve System Performance 
The System Performance Measures Improvement Plan is a critical component of the 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. This section documents all the key 
actions the regional partners are taking to improve their homelessness CA SPMs.  
 
The plan may also include the key actions of small jurisdictions and/or tribal 
governments in the region that elect to engage and collaborate in the Regionally 
Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan.  
 
All HHAP 6-funded activities must be listed as key actions to demonstrate that the 
funds will contribute to improving the region’s CA SPMs. 
 
Each regional partner must also include the key actions they are taking beyond HHAP 6 
funding to address homelessness. These key actions must include how each regional 
partner is improving the region’s CA SPMs through use of local, state, and federal 
funds, including, but not limited to all of the following:  

• The Homekey program, as described in Section 50675.1.1. 

• The No Place Like Home Program (Part 3.9 (commencing with Section 5849.1) 
of Division 5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code). 

• The Multifamily Housing Program (Chapter 6.7 (commencing with Section 50675) 
of Part 2). 

• The Housing for a Healthy California Program (Part 14.2 (commencing with 
Section 53590)). 



   
 

17 
 

• The Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Program (Chapter 6 
(commencing with Section 50216)). All items currently being funded through 
rounds 1 through 4, inclusive, pursuant to the Homeless Housing, Assistance 
and Prevention Program (Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 50216)) and 
round 5 pursuant to the Round 5 of the Homeless Housing, Assistance and 
Prevention Program (Article 1 (commencing with Section 50232)), and those 
items proposed to be funded by round 6 pursuant to this article must be included 
as key actions. If an item proposed to be funded under the rounds will not lead to 
improvement of the system performance measures described in paragraph (2), it 
is not an eligible use of funding pursuant to those rounds. 

• Funding distributed to local jurisdictions pursuant to subparagraph (B) of 
paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 50470. 

• The California Emergency Solutions Grants Program (Chapter 19 (commencing 
with Section 50899.1) of Part 2). 

• The National Housing Trust Fund established pursuant to the Housing and 
Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (Public Law 110-289) and implementing federal 
regulations. 

• HOME Investment Partnerships Act (Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 
50896)). 

• Parolee or probation programs that are intended to prevent homelessness upon 
release. 

• CalWORKs (Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11200) of Part 3 of Division 9 
of the Welfare and Institutions Code). 

• CalFresh (Chapter 10 (commencing with Section 18900) of Part 6 of Division 9 of 
the Welfare and Institutions Code). 

• Supplemental Security Income/State Supplemental Program (SSI/SSP) 
(Subchapter 16 (commencing with Section 1381) of Chapter 7 of Title 42 of the 
United States Code and Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 12000) of Part 3 of 
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code) and the Cash Assistance 
Program for Immigrants (CAPI) pursuant to Chapter 10.3 (commencing with 
Section 18937) of Chapter 10.3 of Part 6 of Division 9 of the Welfare and 
Institutions Code. 

• In-home supportive services. 

• Adult protective services. 

• Child welfare. 



   
 

18 
 

• Childcare and development. 

• Disability benefits advocacy. 

• Medi-Cal program (Chapter 7 (commencing with Section 14000) of Part 3 of 
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code). 

• Mental Health Services Act and Behavioral Health Services Act. 
 

iii. Required Detail on Key Actions 
For each key action, applicants must include the following items, and HCD may follow 
up for more detail as needed to determine compliance with the NOFA and statute: 
 

• Describe the key action in clear, specific terms. 
 

• Identify the CA SPM(s) that the key action will improve, and how the Key Action 
will improve the CA SPM(s). Each applicant must identify at least one Key Action 
related to reducing CA SPM: “The Number of people experiencing unsheltered 
homelessness” and at least one Key Action related to increasing CA SPM “the 
Number of people exiting homelessness into Permanent Housing.”  

• Identify the lead entity and collaborating entities partnering to achieve the key 
action. 

• Provide the target date for milestones and completion of the key action. 

• Provide a clear metric for how success of the key action will be measured.  

• Identify the funding source(s) for the key action and describe how the funding 
source(s) will contribute to the achievement of the key action. For HHAP 6 
funded key actions, include the eligible use category or categories as applicable.  

• A description of how the key action will address system performance disparities 
and ensure racial and gender equity in:  

• Service Delivery 

• Housing Placements 

• Housing Retention 

• Changes to procurement, or  

• Other means of affirming racial and ethnic groups that are 
overrepresented among residents experiencing homelessness have 
equitable access to housing and services.  

  



   
 

19 
 

4. Required Components - HHAP 6 Funding Plan(s) 
Pursuant to HSC section 50243, HHAP 6 is intended to reflect the state’s priorities to 
prevent and expeditiously reduce unsheltered homelessness through homelessness 
prevention activities and sustain existing Interim Housing Solutions, and Permanent 
Housing Solutions, including long-term sustainability of interim housing and permanent 
affordable housing. 
 

a. HHAP 6 Proposed Funding Activities: 
• Each Administrative Entity must submit one funding plan that budgets the 

total HHAP 6 allocation(s) they will be administering in adherence with the 
requirements and eligible uses as specified in HSC section 50243(e) and as 
elaborated on in Section III. “Eligible Uses".  

• The total HHAP 6 Allocation(s) being administered by the Administrative 
Entity.  

• Description of: 

o Specific activity proposed to be funded  

o Eligible use category 

o Total HHAP 6 funding proposed for the activity 

o If applicable, the total HHAP 6 funding proposed for the activity that 
meets the requirements of the Youth Set-Aside  

Note: Every proposed HHAP 6 funding activity must also be included under the System 
Performance Measures and Improvement Plan as a key action. 

b. Funding Priority Considerations – Document Sustainability of the 
Region’s Interim Housing Portfolio 

Pursuant to HSC section 50243(c), all Eligible Applicants must demonstrate they have 
dedicated sufficient resources to sustain their region’s existing and proposed portfolio of 
interim housing.  

To document this within the application, the region will be required to submit: 

1) The total existing interim housing shelters and beds (beds) in the region. 

2) The total beds proposed to be added during the grant term (FY 24/25-28/29) in 
the region, if applicable. 

3) The total estimated capital and operating costs for the beds (existing and 
proposed) during the grant term. 

  



   
 

20 
 

4) The funding sources (including amounts) that will realize and sustain the 
estimated capital and operating costs for the beds in the region for the period of 
the grant term (FY 24/25-28/29).  

If a gap remains, the applicant must identify other sources to address the gap. This may 
include, but is not limited to, use of HHAP funding, local dedicated funding, Behavioral 
Health Services Act funds, long-term capitalized operating reserves, or any other local, 
state, or federal funding source from the list within the Systems Performance Measures 
Improvement Plan section of this NOFA.  

The stakeholder engagement required in advance of application development 
should also be used to help inform the application’s requirements related to 
documenting the sustainability of the region’s interim housing portfolio. 

c. Funding Priority Considerations – Document Sustainability of the 
Region’s Permanent Housing Portfolio (as applicable) 

Pursuant to HSC section 50243(d), before an applicant proposes to use HHAP 6 
funding for either: New Interim Housing, defined as eligible uses HSC 50243 
(e)(3)(A),(F),(G), and (J), other than New Interim Housing that meets the Youth Set 
Aside requirement described below, or any Non-Housing Solutions (defined as eligible 
uses HSC 50243(e)(4)), the applicant must demonstrate there is not a financial gap in 
sustaining the existing and proposed portfolio of permanent affordable housing within 
their region.  

To document this within the application, the region will be required to submit: 

1) The total permanent affordable housing developments and units (developments) 
in the region. This data can be provided by HCD upon request. 

2) The total developments at risk of expiring affordability restrictions during the 
grant term (FY 24/25-28/29) in the region. This data can be provided by HCD 
upon request. 

3) The total developments proposed, such as those currently seeking permanent 
housing funding or operations support in the region, which still have a financing 
or supportive services and operations funding gap. 

4) For 2 and 3, identify and describe the funding sources (including amounts) that 
will realize the estimated capital and operating costs to address the funding gaps 
or preserve the at-risk developments in the region. This may include, but is not 
limited to, use of local dedicated funding, local housing trust fund, Behavioral 
Health Services Act funds, long-term capitalized operating reserves, or any other 
local, state, or federal funding source from the System Performance Measures 
Improvement Plan section of this NOFA.  

  



   
 

21 
 

5) If an applicant demonstrates they can sustain their existing and proposed interim 
and permanent housing portfolios within the region, then they may be permitted 
to use HHAP 6 funds on New Interim Housing (beyond New Interim Housing for 
youth populations) and/or Non-Housing Solutions; however, applicants will still be 
required to budget and spend at least 50 percent of their HHAP 6 allocation on 
housing solutions, defined as HSC 50243(e)(1),(2),and (3)(A-I). 

 
If a gap remains, the applicant must identify other sources to address the gap. This may 
include, but is not limited to, use of HHAP funding, local dedicated funding, Behavioral 
Health Services Act funds, long-term capitalized operating reserves, or any other local, 
state, or federal funding source from the list within the Systems Performance Measures 
Improvement Plan section of this NOFA.  

The stakeholder engagement required in advance of application development 
should also be used to help inform the application’s requirements related to 
documenting the sustainability of the region’s permanent housing portfolio. 

d. Funding Priority Considerations – Document Youth Set Aside 
Requirement has been met 

At least 10 percent of each HHAP 6 allocation must be spent on services for homeless 
youth (HSC 50241(e)), and there are no prohibitions on spending a greater percentage 
on the Youth Set Aside.  

Homeless youth is defined as unaccompanied youth between ages 12- and 24-years 
old experiencing homelessness, including pregnant and parenting youth, per HSC 
50216(l). Dollars spent toward the Youth Set Aside have the same eligible uses as the 
broader program. Proposed funding activities should be categorized as part of the 
Youth Set Aside when costs support services and housing interventions for homeless 
youth populations.  

Additionally, the Sustainability of the Region’s Permanent Housing Portfolio justification 
is not required for New Interim Housing Solutions for homeless youth.  

5. Required Components – Regional Memorandum of Understanding 
Per HSC section 50240(f), the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan must 
be reflected in a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). The MOU shall commit all 
signatories to participate in and comply with the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness 
Action Plan. The MOU shall also certify that all Eligible Applicants and subgrantees will 
employ the core components of Housing First (see Section VI.D.2 “Housing First 
Requirement”). 
 
OPTIONAL: Smaller jurisdictions and/or tribal governments within the region may 
choose to sign the MOU and commit to participating in and adhering to the Regionally 
Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. To support this, counties are encouraged to 
allocate resources from program funding to smaller jurisdictions that actively engage in 
and comply with the plan.  



   
 

22 
 

B. Developing and Submitting a Complete HHAP 6 Application 
 

1. Leverage HHAP 5 Application Components 
In developing their HHAP 6 Applications, regions should build upon their approved 
HHAP 5 Applications. This means regions should leverage and update information from 
their approved HHAP 5 Application in corresponding required components of the HHAP 
6 application. 
 

2. Applicants must post Proposed, Amended, and Approved Regionally 
Coordinated Homelessness Action Plans 

Per HSC 50240(i), participating applicants involved in the Regionally Coordinated 
Homelessness Action Plan are required to publish the proposed, amended, and 
approved versions of their Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plans on their 
respective internet websites. HCD will also post the proposed, amended, and approved 
version of the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plans on its website.  

 
3. Submitting a Complete HHAP 6 Application 

The HHAP 6 application will be available and must be completed online. All required 
application components must be submitted through the online application portal by 
August 29, 2025. Upon submission of the online application, the applicant will receive a 
confirmation email that includes a copy of the application and details about the next 
steps in the application process. 
 
HHAP 6 applications will be reviewed upon receipt of the online application submission, 
including all required components and documentation.  
 
Within 30 days of the application submittal, the Department shall either approve the 
application or return it to the applicant with written, detailed comments and request one 
or more of the following specific amendments to the application: 

• Greater detail on any aspect of the application so the Department can ensure 
compliance with requirements, fidelity with the applicant’s proposed use of funds, 
and impact on system performance measures. 

• Modifications or provision of additional information on the applicant’s proposed 
funding plan to ensure compliance with this section and ensure alignment with 
evidence-based solutions to reduce homelessness. 

• Any other modifications or provision of information that would allow the 
Department to better monitor and evaluate the region’s compliance with its 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan and whether it is meeting 
objective performance standards. 

 
  



   
 

23 
 

An applicant whose application has been returned pursuant to the above shall respond 
to the Department’s requested amendments and submit a revised application within 30 
days. Where the revised application differs from the Department’s requests, the 
applicant shall include an explanation of the differences and the rationale for departing 
from requested amendments. 
 
The Department shall have another 30 days to approve the application if, as amended, 
it addressed the Department’s concerns or to provide the applicant with additional 
guidance and a deadline for further amending to fully address the Department’s 
concerns. 
 
Per HSC section 50240(j), the Department may consult with any local government, 
public agency, group, or person, regarding the action by a participating jurisdiction in 
determining whether any Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan 
substantially complies with the HHAP 6 statute and the guidelines in this NOFA. 
 
HCD shall approve or deny an application, and the determination of the amount of 
funding to be provided shall be final (HSC section 50239(e)).  

Upon approval of each regional application, HCD will issue award letters and will send 
contract packages to each Administrative Entity. Administrative Entities will have 30 
days to complete and return the contract packages. Once contracts are executed, 
Grantees will receive their initial disbursement in one check. See below for more 
information on the disbursement of HHAP 6 funds. 
 

V. FUNDS DISBURSEMENT 
 

A. Initial Disbursement 
To receive the initial disbursement of HHAP 6, the region and its regional partners must 
have received a HHAP 6 award, and the Administrative Entities must demonstrate they 
have met the obligation and expenditure requirements for HHAP rounds 1 through 4 as 
outlined in HSC section 50242(f) in order to be eligible to receive their HHAP 6 initial 
disbursement.  
 
These obligation and expenditure requirements are:  

• The Administrative Entity must have contractually obligated 100 percent of HHAP 
rounds 1 through 3. 

• The Administrative Entity must have expended 100 percent of HHAP Round 1 or 
returned any funds remaining after the 6/30/2025 expenditure deadline. 

• The Administrative Entity must have expended at least 50 percent of their 
funding and contractually obligated at least 75 percent of their funding from the 
first disbursement of HHAP Round 4. 

• In addition, in order to facilitate HCD’s evaluation of whether these requirements 
have been met, and its evaluation of progress on California System Performance 



   
 

24 
 

Measures (CA SPMs), the Administrative Entity must be in good standing on 
reporting for HHAP rounds 1 through 5, including fiscal reporting and reporting 
into HMIS. 

 
Once applicants have met these requirements and contracts are executed, HCD will 
take the necessary steps to disburse the initial HHAP 6 disbursements to each 
Administrative Entity, which includes 50 percent of the eligible Large City, county, or 
CoC’s HHAP 6 award. 
 

B. Remainder Disbursement 
In order to be eligible to receive the remaining 50 percent of the HHAP 6 award, Eligible 
Applicants must:  
 

• Housing Element Compliance: Demonstrate that it has a compliant housing 
element as defined in HSC section 65589.9 of the Government Code (Applies to 
Large City and county Grantees only). Each Large City and county Grantee 
within each region must have a compliant housing element as defined in HSC 
section 65589.9 of the Government Code before they may receive their HHAP 6 
remainder disbursement. The housing element requirement does not apply to 
CoCs. If a Large City or county Grantee does not have a compliant housing 
element, the Department shall hold the disbursement until the recipient’s housing 
element is found compliant. 
 

• Demonstrate Sufficient Spenddown: Grantees must obligate at least 75 percent 
of the initial HHAP 6 disbursement and expend at least 50 percent of the initial 
HHAP 6 disbursement no later than June 30, 2027.  

 
• Update on the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan:  

Submit, and have approved by HCD, an update to their Regionally Coordinated 
Homelessness Action Plan. Each region must submit an update to their 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan activities to HCD no later 
than January 31, 2027 (HSC section 50242(h)). This update shall include 
obligation and expenditure progress, status of key actions in the System 
Performance Measures Improvement Plan as measured by the respective 
success metrics, and status updates on CA SPMs. 

 
The Department shall, within 30 days, review the update to the Regionally 
Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan and report its findings to the region. If 
the Department finds that a Grantee failed to adhere to the requirements, the 
Department may require the participating jurisdictions in the region to make 
specific changes needed to meet the requirements. If the Department finds that 
the Grantee has adhered to the requirements or concludes that the Grantee has 
addressed any shortcomings in the update, the Department shall approve the 
update.  
 

  



   
 

25 
 

Corrective Action Plans:  
If the Department concludes that the Grantees in the region made insufficient 
progress on key actions or failed to adequately improve on at least one-half of 
the region’s CA SPMs, based on most recent CA SPM data available, the 
Department may require the participating jurisdictions to provide a corrective 
action plan to the update to the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action 
Plan and/or funding plans to address these findings. Participating jurisdictions 
shall accomplish these changes or submit a corrective action plan, as applicable, 
within 30 days of being notified by the Department. 
 
The Department has 30 days to review the changes or corrective action plan, as 
applicable, to determine if they addressed the Department’s concerns and 
approve the update, or to provide the Grantee with additional guidance and a 
deadline for making changes or further amending the corrective action plan to 
address the Department’s concerns.  
 
The Department may withhold the remaining 50 percent of funds from a 
Grantee until the Department has found the update to the HHAP 6 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan or the corrective action 
plan satisfactory. The Department shall provide technical assistance and 
support regions’ efforts to comply with the requirements. 
 
Regions are also encouraged to update their memorandums of understanding to 
reflect the update to their Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan 
approved pursuant to this subdivision. The Department may ask for confirmation 
that a region has updated its memorandum of understanding to reflect a part of a 
corrective action required under this section. 

 
VI. MONITORING, DOCUMENTATION, AND REPORTING 

Administrative Entities must be able to demonstrate that HHAP 6 funds were expended 
for eligible uses. HCD will include additional information on monitoring and reporting 
requirements in the Standard Agreement executed prior to distribution of HHAP 6 funds 
to each CoC, large city, and county. In addition to HCD monitoring and reporting 
requirements, it is expected that CoCs, Large Cities, and counties will provide direct 
oversight of subrecipients of HHAP 6 funds and ensure that subrecipients comply with 
HHAP 6 program requirements. HCD may request the repayment of funds or pursue 
any other remedies available, at law or in equity, for failure to comply with reporting 
requirements. 
 

A. Reporting 
Grantees are required to submit monthly fiscal reports, must submit annual reports, and 
a final report after the end of the grant period. HCD will reach out to Grantees with 
guidance on how to submit monthly and annual reports. 



   
 

26 
 

In addition to the monthly and annual reports, described below, the Grantee shall submit 
to HCD all other reports, updates, and information that HCD deems necessary to 
monitor compliance and/or perform program evaluation. Any requested data or 
information shall be submitted in a form and manner provided by HCD. 
 

1. Monthly Reports 
HHAP recipients must submit a monthly fiscal report to include obligations and 
expenditures in each eligible use category. Expenditures and obligations should align 
with those approved in the application. 
 

2. Annual Reports and Final Reports 
Per Health and Safety Code sections 50221 and 50222, all recipients of HHAP funds 
are required to submit an annual report every April 1 on activity through the prior 
calendar year and must include the following data components: 

• Detailed description of activities with obligated and expended funds by eligible 
use category 

• Progress and status updates on HHAP Regional Homeless Action Plan 
commitments 

• Other highlights and accomplishments and notable quantifiable outcomes 

The HHAP 6 Final Report shall be required in lieu of the last annual report for each 
round and shall follow the requirements of Health and Safety Code 
sections 50221, 50222, and 50223.   

3. Person-Served Reporting 
HCD will make efforts to use the statewide Homeless Data Integration System (HDIS) 
data, specifically the data entered by Grantees under their AB 977 requirements 
described below, and provided by CoCs via quarterly uploads from HMIS, to fulfill the 
following annual and final report requirements. However improper reporting into that 
system may require HCD to seek additional final report information directly from 
Grantees: 

• The total number of individuals, as well as homeless individuals, served in each 
year of the program and total for the program overall. 

• Aggregate outcome data for individuals served using program funds, including all 
of the following: 

o The type of housing that the individuals exited to, including whether the 
housing is permanent or interim. 

o The percentage of successful housing exits. 
o Exit types for unsuccessful housing exits. 

• The types of housing assistance provided, including, but not limited to, 
permanent or interim housing, broken out by the number of individuals served. 

• Progress towards the CA SPMs, including demographic equity analysis. 
  



   
 

27 
 

B. Budget Modifications 
Grantees may revise their approved budgets on file with HCD through a budget 
modification when there is any change in proposed activities. Grantees must receive 
HCD approval for all budget modifications. Grantees may request a budget modification 
at any time using the HHAP Budget Modification Form.  
 

C. Fiscal Deadlines 

1. June 2027 Obligation and Expenditure Requirement 
All Grantees must submit confirmation that no less than 75 percent of their initial Round 
6 program allocations have been contractually obligated and that no less than 50 
percent of initial Round 6 program allocations have been expended by June 30, 
2027. This is also one of the requirements for Grantees to receive the remaining 50 
percent of their total HHAP 6 allocation.  
 

2. Failure to meet the second disbursement requirements by December 2028 
will result in the second disbursement being reallocated to other Grantees 

Pursuant to HSC 50242(i)(3), if a Grantee does not meet the expenditure requirements 
detailed in VI.C.1 above, along with the other requirements necessary to receive their 
second disbursement of HHAP 6 funds, on or before December 31, 2028, Grantees will 
forfeit their second disbursement and must return any unspent funds from their initial 
disbursement, to be re-allocated as supplemental awards by the Department.  
 

3. Final Expenditure Requirement: Grantees must fully expend all HHAP 6 
funds by June 30, 2029 

All Grantees must submit confirmation that 100 percent of Round 6 program funds have 
been expended by June 30, 2029. Any remaining amounts not expended by that date 
will be returned to the state’s General Fund. 
 

4. Records Retention Requirement 
The Grantee must retain all documentation pertaining to performance of the grant for a 
minimum period of five years after the final expenditure deadline. If any litigation, claim, 
negotiation, audit, monitoring, inspection, or other action has been commenced before 
the expiration of the required record retention period, all records must be retained until 
completion of the action and resolution of all issues which arise from it. 

HCD or its designee has the right to review, obtain, and copy all records and supporting 
documentation pertaining to performance under the Standard Agreement. The Grantee 
agrees to provide HCD, or its designee, with any relevant information requested to give 
HCD or its designee access to its premises, upon reasonable notice and during normal 
business hours, for the purpose of interviewing employees who might reasonably have 
information related to such records, and of inspecting and copying such books, records, 
accounts, and other materials that may be relevant to an investigation of compliance 
with HHAP Program laws, guidance, and the Standard Agreement. 

If upon inspection of records HCD identifies noncompliance with grant requirements, 
HCD retains the right to impose a corrective action plan on the Grantee. 

https://www.cognitoforms.com/CaliforniaInteragencyCouncilOnHomelessness/HHAPBudgetModificationForm


   
 

28 
 

D. Other Requirements 
1. Reporting into Homeless Management Information System (HMIS)  

Pursuant to Assembly Bill (AB) 977 (Statutes of 2021), Grantees who have been 
awarded HHAP funding must enter Universal and Common Data Elements as defined 
by HUD on the individuals and families served into the local HMIS. All Grantees agree 
to set up HMIS projects in alignment with the instructions provided by HCD and to 
participate and enter data on individuals and families served by this funding into the 
local HMIS. HSC section 50220.6 details specifications related to the data elements that 
must be reported. Technical assistance is available from the California Interagency 
Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH), in coordination with HCD, to Grantees that need 
support in meeting these requirements. Grantees are required to ensure any 
subrecipients of their HHAP funding adhere to these HMIS reporting requirements. 
 
HCD will make efforts to utilize statewide HMIS data, aggregated into the Homeless 
Data Integration System (HDIS) maintained by Cal ICH to fulfill Grantee reporting 
requirements, however improper reporting into that system may require HCD to seek 
additional information directly from Grantees. Grantees may also be required to accept 
training and technical assistance in this area if their HMIS/HDIS is not properly tracked 
and shared. 
 

2. Housing First Requirement 
All recipients of HHAP 6 must comply with Housing First as provided in Chapter 6.5 
(commencing with Section 8255) of Division 8 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.  
 
Housing First is an evidence-based, client-centered approach that recognizes housing 
as necessary to make other voluntary life changes, such as seeking treatment or 
medical care. The goal of Housing First is to provide housing to individuals and families 
quickly with as few obstacles as possible, along with voluntary support services 
according to their needs.  
 
Required core components of Housing First include:  

1. Tenant screening and selection practices that promote accepting applicants 
regardless of their sobriety or use of substances, completion of treatment, or 
participation in services. 

2. Applicants are not rejected on the basis of poor credit or financial history, poor or 
lack of rental history, criminal convictions unrelated to tenancy, or behaviors that 
indicate a lack of “housing readiness.” 

3. Acceptance of referrals directly from shelters, street outreach, drop-in centers, 
and other parts of crisis response systems frequented by vulnerable people 
experiencing homelessness. 

4. Supportive services that emphasize engagement and problem solving over 
therapeutic goals and service plans that are highly tenant-driven without 
predetermined goals. 

5. Participation in services or program compliance is not a condition of permanent 
housing tenancy. 

6. Tenants have a lease and all the rights and responsibilities of tenancy, as 



   
 

29 
 

outlined in California’s Civil, Health and Safety, and Government codes. 
7. The use of alcohol or drugs in and of itself, without other lease violations, is not a 

reason for eviction. 
8. In communities with coordinated assessment and entry systems, incentives for 

funding promote tenant selection plans for supportive housing that prioritize 
eligible tenants based on criteria other than “first-come-first-serve,” including, but 
not limited to, the duration or chronicity of homelessness, vulnerability to early 
mortality, or high utilization of crisis services. Prioritization may include triage 
tools, developed through local data, to identify high-cost, high-need homeless 
residents. 

9. Case managers and service coordinators who are trained in and actively employ 
evidence-based practices for client engagement, including, but not limited to, 
motivational interviewing and client-centered counseling. 

10. Services are informed by a harm-reduction philosophy that recognizes drug and 
alcohol use and addiction as a part of tenants’ lives, where tenants are engaged 
in nonjudgmental communication regarding drug and alcohol use, and where 
tenants are offered education regarding how to avoid risky behaviors and engage 
in safer practices, as well as connected to evidence-based treatment if the tenant 
so chooses. 

11. The project and specific apartment may include special physical features that 
accommodate disabilities, reduce harm, and promote health and community and 
independence among tenants. 

 
E. Legal Documents 

Upon the award of HHAP funds, HCD shall enter into Standard Agreements with 
Grantees that govern how HHAP funds must be spent. These agreements shall ensure 
adherence to the objectives and requirements of the HHAP 6 program, and compliance 
with all relevant laws. No award shall be disbursed until the Standard Agreement is 
signed by both the Grantee and HCD and is fully executed. 
 

VII. RESOURCES AND CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
Additional information including the HHAP Program Guidance can be found on HCD’s 
HHAP website: https://www.hcd.ca.gov/grants-and-funding/programs-active/homeless-
housing-assistance-and-prevention-grant-program. 
  
If you have questions, please direct them to the HCD homelessness grants inbox at 
hpdhomelessnessgrants@hcd.ca.gov.   

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/grants-and-funding/programs-active/homeless-housing-assistance-and-prevention-grant-program
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/grants-and-funding/programs-active/homeless-housing-assistance-and-prevention-grant-program
mailto:hpdhomelessnessgrants@hcd.ca.gov


   
 

30 
 

VIII. APPENDICES 
 

Appendix A: HHAP Statute  
 
Health and Safety Code – HSC 
 
Round 6 of the Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention program  
50239. 
(a) Round 6 of the Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention program is hereby 
established. 
(b) Upon appropriation by the Legislature, the department shall make available the 
following amounts in accordance with this article: 

(1) One billion dollars ($1,000,000,000) in the 2024–25 fiscal year for implementation 
of the program. 

(2) Further amounts as the Legislature may appropriate to the program in the future. 

(c) (1) The department shall administer all aspects of the program in accordance with 
this article. 

(2) No more than 5 percent of the total allocation for each round of funding shall be 
used to cover the department’s costs of administration of this article, including state 
operations expenditures and activities in support of statewide capacity building for 
recipients, including providing ongoing training and technical assistance, measuring 
data and performance, conducting research, and evaluation of funding service 
delivery demonstration projects. 

(A) The department may utilize any unused funds from moneys set aside for 
program administration to augment existing allocation categories using existing 
allocation methodologies. 

(B) Any unused funds from moneys set aside for program administration 
remaining by the expenditure deadline for the given appropriation shall be rolled 
over into the next round of appropriated funding, or will revert back to the General 
Fund. 

(d) Contracts entered into or amended shall be exempt from all of the following: 
(1) Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 14825) of Part 5.5 of Division 3 of Title 2 of 
the Government Code. 

(2) The personal services contracting requirements of Article 4 (commencing with 
Section 19130) of Chapter 5 of Part 2 of Division 5 of Title 2 of the Government Code. 

(3) Part 2 (commencing with Section 10100) of Division 2 of the Public Contract Code 
and the State Contracting Manual. 

(4) Notwithstanding Section 11546 of the Government Code, from review or approval 
of any division of the Department of Technology, upon approval from the Department 



   
 

31 
 

of Finance. 

(5) From the review or approval of any division of the Department of General 
Services. 

(e) The department shall approve or deny an application, and the determination of the 
amount of funding to be provided shall be final. 
(f) If the applicant identifies substantive errors or omissions in their required data 
submissions, the department may, at its sole discretion, allow jurisdictions to modify or 
resubmit their data and, if applicable, may allow applicants to modify their data 
accordingly. 
(g) The department shall maintain and make available to the public on its internet 
website records of all of the following: 

(1) The number of applications for program funding received by the department. 

(2) The number of applications for program funding denied by the department. 

(3) The name of each recipient of program funds. 

(4) Each applicant receiving funds pursuant to this article who shall provide a list of all 
awards to subrecipients. 

(5) Annual reports filed by recipients pursuant to Sections 50221, 50222, and 50223. 

(h) In administering this article, the department shall not be subject to the rulemaking 
provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act (Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 
11340) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code). 
(Added by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 13. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

50240. 
(a) To be eligible for a round 6 base program allocation, a jurisdiction that is not a tribe 
must apply as part of a region and must be signatory to a round 6 regionally coordinated 
homelessness action plan that has been approved by the department. An update to the 
round 5 plan may constitute a round 6 regionally coordinated homelessness action plan. 
(b) The department shall approve a round 6 regionally coordinated homelessness action 
plan when the department determines that the plan meets all of the requirements of this 
section. 
(c) The round 6 regionally coordinated homelessness action plan shall include all of the 
following components: 
  



   
 

32 
 

(1) Identification and analysis of the specific roles and responsibilities of each 
participating jurisdiction in the region regarding outreach and site coordination, siting 
and use of available land, the development of shelter, interim, and permanent 
housing options, and the coordination and connection to the delivery of services to 
individuals experiencing homelessness, or at risk of experiencing homelessness, 
including specifying roles and coordination plans in relation to Mental Health Services 
Act or Behavioral Health Services Act, within the region. The plan may also include 
roles and responsibilities of small jurisdictions in the region that elect to engage and 
collaborate on the plan. 

(2) Most recent system performance measures for the region, which shall include all 
of the following, as well as age, racial, and ethnic disparities for all of the following: 

(A) The number of people experiencing homelessness. 

(B) The average length of time people experience homelessness. 

(C) The percentage of people exiting homelessness into permanent housing. 

(D) The number of people who return to homelessness after exiting homelessness 
into permanent housing. 

(E) The number of people exiting homelessness into permanent housing. 

(F) The number of people falling into homelessness for the first time. 

(G) The number of people who return to homelessness after exiting institutional 
settings, including, but not limited to, jails, prisons, and hospitals. 

(3) A system performance and improvement plan, which shall include a description of 
key actions the region intends to take to improve the system performance measures 
described in paragraph (2). The system performance and improvement plan may also 
include key actions of small jurisdictions in the region that elect to engage and 
collaborate in the regionally coordinated homelessness action plan. In naming key 
actions in the system performance and improvement plan, a region will identify all of 
the following: 

(A) The lead entity on the key action and collaborating entities partnering to 
achieve the key action. 

(B) A timeframe for steps and completion of each key action. 

(C) The methods of measuring the success of each key action and related system 
performance measures that will demonstrate success of the key action. 

(D) An explanation of how each participating jurisdiction is utilizing local, state, 
and federal funding programs as key actions to improve the system performance 
measures, including, but not limited to, all of the following: 



   
 

33 
 

(i) The Homekey program, as described in Section 50675.1.1. 

(ii) The No Place Like Home Program (Part 3.9 (commencing with Section 
5849.1) of Division 5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code). 

(iii) The Multifamily Housing Program (Chapter 6.7 (commencing with Section 
50675) of Part 2). 

(iv) The Housing for a Healthy California Program (Part 14.2 (commencing with 
Section 53590)). 

(v) The Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention program (Chapter 6 
(commencing with Section 50216)). All items currently being funded through 
rounds 1 through 4, inclusive, pursuant to the Homeless Housing, Assistance, 
and Prevention program (Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 50216)) and 
round 5 pursuant to the Round 5 of the Homeless Housing, Assistance, and 
Prevention program (Article 1 (commencing with Section 50232)), and those 
items proposed to be funded by round 6 pursuant to this article must be 
included as key actions. If an item proposed to be funded under the rounds will 
not lead to improvement of the system performance measures described in 
paragraph (2), it is not an eligible use of funding pursuant to those rounds. 

(vi) Funding distributed to local jurisdictions pursuant to subparagraph (B) of 
paragraph (2) of subdivision (b) of Section 50470. 

(vii) The California Emergency Solutions Grants Program (Chapter 19 
(commencing with Section 50899.1) of Part 2). 

(viii) The National Housing Trust Fund established pursuant to the Housing 
and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (Public Law 110-289), and implementing 
federal regulations. 

(ix) HOME Investment Partnerships Act (Chapter 16 (commencing with Section 
50896)). 

(x) Parolee or probation programs that are intended to prevent homelessness 
upon release. 

(xi) CalWORKs (Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11200) of Part 3 of 
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code). 

(xii) CalFresh (Chapter 10 (commencing with Section 18900) of Part 6 of 
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code). 

(xiii) Supplemental Security Income/State Supplemental Program (SSI/SSP) 
(Subchapter 16 (commencing with Section 1381) of Chapter 7 of Title 42 of the 
United States Code and Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 12000) of Part 3 
of Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code) and the Cash Assistance 



   
 

34 
 

Program for Immigrants (CAPI) pursuant to Chapter 10.3 (commencing with 
Section 18937) of Chapter 10.3 of Part 6 of Division 9 of the Welfare and 
Institutions Code. 

(xiv) In-home supportive services. 

(xv) Adult protective services. 

(xvi) Child welfare. 

(xvii) Child care and development. 

(xviii) Disability benefits advocacy. 

(xix) Medi-Cal program (Chapter 7 (commencing with Section 14000) of Part 3 
of Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code). 

(xx) Mental Health Services Act and Behavioral Health Services Act. 

(E) A description of how the key actions will ensure racial and gender equity in 
service delivery, housing placements, and housing retention and changes to 
procurement or other means of affirming racial and ethnic groups that are 
overrepresented among residents experiencing homelessness have equitable 
access to housing and services. 

(d) Participating jurisdictions shall collaborate to complete the regionally coordinated 
homelessness action plan and shall engage in a public stakeholder process that 
includes at least three public meetings before completing the plan. 
(e) The participating jurisdictions shall invite and encourage all of the following to 
engage in the public stakeholder process: 

(1) People with lived experience of homelessness. 

(2) Youth with lived experience of homelessness. 

(3) Local department leaders and staff of qualifying small jurisdictions, including child 
welfare, health care, behavioral health, justice, and education system leaders. 

(4) Homeless service and housing providers, including non-profit developers of 
permanent supportive housing, working in that region. 

(5) Each Medi-Cal Managed Care Plan contracted with the State Department of 
Health Care Services in the region. 

(6) Street medicine providers and other providers directly serving people experiencing 
homelessness or at risk of homelessness. 

(7) Federally recognized tribal governments pursuant to Section 4103 of Title 25 of 
the United States Code that are within the region. 



   
 

35 
 

(f) The regionally coordinated homelessness action plan shall be reflected in a 
memorandum of understanding committing each signatory to participation in, and to 
comply with, the regionally coordinated homelessness action plan. 
(g) Smaller jurisdictions in the region may also sign the memorandum of understanding 
and commit to participation in, and compliance with, the regionally coordinated 
homelessness action plan. Counties are encouraged to allocate resources from 
program funding to smaller jurisdictions that participate in and commit to complying with 
the regionally coordinated homelessness action plan. 
(h) Upon receipt of a proposed regionally coordinated homelessness action plan, the 
department shall review it in coordination with the council, the State Department of 
Health Care Services, and the State Department of Social Services. 
(i) A qualifying jurisdiction participating in a regionally coordinated homelessness action 
plan shall post on its internet website the proposed, approved, and amended regionally 
coordinated homelessness action plan. 
(j) The department may consult with any local government, public agency, group, or 
person, and shall receive and consider any written comments from any public agency, 
group, or person, regarding the action by a participating jurisdiction in determining 
whether the regional coordinated homeless action plan substantially complies with this 
article. 
(Added by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 13. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

50241. 
(a) Upon appropriation by the Legislature, the funds administered pursuant to this 
article, less the set aside funds provided for the department’s costs of administration in 
subdivision (c) of Section 50239, shall be made available in the 2024–2025 fiscal year 
for implementing round 6 of the program, as follows: 

(1) Not more than 80 percent of the funding available pursuant to this section shall be 
available to cities, counties, or continuums of care, for basic program allocations, as 
follows: 

(A) Thirty percent of the funds described in this paragraph shall be available to 
continuums of care. The department shall calculate these allocations to a 
continuum of care based on each continuum of care’s proportionate share of the 
state’s total homeless population, based on the homeless point-in-time count. The 
department shall not award more than 40 percent of the allocation made pursuant 
to this subparagraph to a continuum of care. 

(B) Forty-two percent of the funds described in this paragraph shall be available to 
each city, or a city that is also a county, that has a population of 300,000 or more, 
as of January 1, 2022, according to data published on the Department of 
Finance’s internet website. The department shall calculate the allocation to a city 
based on the city’s proportionate share of the total homeless population of the 
region served by the continuum of care within which the city is located, based on 
the homeless point-in-time count. The department shall not award more than 45 
percent of the program allocation made pursuant to this subparagraph to a city. If 
more than one recipient within the continuum of care meets the requirements of 



   
 

36 
 

this subparagraph, the proportionate share of funds shall be equally allocated to 
those jurisdictions. 

(C) Twenty-eight percent of the funds described in this paragraph shall be 
available to each county. The department shall calculate the allocation to a county 
based on the county’s proportionate share of the total homeless population of the 
region served by the continuum of care within which the county is located, based 
on the homeless point-in-time count. The department shall not award more than 
40 percent of the program allocation made pursuant to this subparagraph to a 
county. 

(2) Not more than 17 percent of the funding available pursuant to this section shall be 
available to eligible cities, counties, and tribal applicants for the purpose of providing 
supplemental support for the Homekey program pursuant to Section 50244. 

(3) Not more than 3 percent of the funding available pursuant to this section shall be 
available to tribal applicants. Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, the 
funds described in this paragraph shall be allocated as follows: 

(A) A tribe may apply for program funds and the department shall make 
allocations to tribes on the basis of need. Tribes that apply for program funds 
pursuant to subparagraph (B) shall be allocated funds up to their requested 
amount. If the total requested funds exceeds the amount available collectively 
among all tribal applicants, the department shall determine an allocation 
methodology based on each tribal applicant’s proportionate share of need relative 
to all tribes that submit an application for funding. 

(B) A tribal applicant seeking funds pursuant to this section shall submit an 
application to the department, in the form and manner prescribed by the 
department, no later than June 30, 2025, with all of the following information: 

(i) The amount of grant funds the tribe is requesting. 

(ii) An explanation of the tribe’s local need, including an estimation of the 
number of people who need homelessness services and the current resources 
that exist. 

(iii) A description of the services on which the tribe plans to spend its grant 
funds. These activities shall be allowable pursuant to Section 50243. 

(C) Any funds available to tribal applicants pursuant to this paragraph that are 
unallocated as of July 1, 2027, shall be reallocated for distribution to tribal 
applicants as part of future program rounds. 

(D) A tribal applicant is encouraged to partner with a local continuum of care or 
coordinated entry system. 

  



   
 

37 
 

(b) An applicant applying for round 6 program funds pursuant to this section shall 
comply with the requirements set forth in Section 50220.6. 
(c) A program recipient shall not use funding from the program allocated under this 
section to supplant existing local funds for homelessness services under penalty of 
disallowance or reduction, or both, of future program funds, as determined by the 
department. 
(d) (1) No more than 5 percent of the appropriated funds shall be used to cover state 
administrative costs pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 50239. 

(2) The department may expend administrative funds until December 31, 2029, to 
complete grant closeout activities. 

(e) A program recipient shall use at least 10 percent of the funds allocated under this 
section for services for homeless youth populations. This subdivision does not prohibit 
program recipients from spending a greater percentage on services for homeless youth 
populations. 
(f) Moneys allocated pursuant to this section shall be expended in compliance with 
Housing First as provided in Chapter 6.5 (commencing with Section 8255) of Division 8 
of the Welfare and Institutions Code. 
(Added by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 13. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

50242. 
(a) The department shall make an application for round 6 base program allocations 
available no later than January 31, 2025. 
(b) Applications shall be due no later than 180 days from the date applications are made 
available pursuant to subdivision (a). 
(c) (1) Applicants from each region shall submit a single, regional application from their 
shared region. 

(2) Each applicant shall have the discretion to receive their base program allocation 
directly or may designate a corresponding eligible applicant in their region to serve as 
the fiscal agent responsible for the administration of funding made available pursuant 
to this article. 

(d) Within 30 days of the application deadline pursuant to subdivision (b), the 
department shall either approve the application or return it to the applicant with written, 
detailed comments and request one or more of the following specific amendments to 
the application: 

(1) Greater detail on any aspect of the application so the department can ensure 
fidelity with the applicant’s proposed use of funds and impact on system performance 
measures. 

(2) Modifications or provision of additional information on the applicant’s proposed 
funding plan to ensure compliance with this section, and ensure alignment with 
evidence-based solutions to reduce homelessness. 

(3) Any other modifications or provision of information that would allow the 
department to better monitor and evaluate the region’s compliance with its regionally 



   
 

38 
 

coordinated homelessness action plan and whether it is meeting objective 
performance standards. 

(e) (1) An applicant whose application has been returned pursuant to this section shall 
respond to the department’s requested amendments and submit a revised application 
within 30 days. Where the revised application differs from the department’s requests, 
the applicant shall include an explanation of the differences and the rationale for 
departing from requested amendments. 

(2) The department shall have 30 days within which to approve the application if, as 
amended, it addressed the department’s concerns or to provide the applicant with 
additional guidance and a deadline for further amending to fully address the 
department’s concerns. 

(f) (1) To receive a round 6 base program allocation, an applicant shall submit an 
application to the department. A complete application submitted pursuant to this section 
shall include, in the form and manner prescribed by the department, all of the following: 

(A) A regionally coordinated homelessness action plan that the department finds 
compliant with Section 50240. This may be an updated version of the action plan 
submitted in prior rounds if that action plan was found compliant by the 
department. 

(B) A detailed proposal for how the applicant intends to use the funds for which it 
is applying that complies with Section 50243. 

(C) All other components that the department shall deem necessary to the proper 
administration of the program. 

(2) After approval of an application pursuant to this section, the department shall 
disburse 50 percent of an eligible city’s, county’s, or continuum of care’s total 
allocation pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 50241 upon a determination that the 
eligible city, county, or continuum of care has done all of the following: 

(A) Contractually obligated all of its funding from rounds 1 through 3 of the 
program. 

(B) Expended all of its funding from round 1 of the program. 

(C) Expended at least 50 percent of its funding and contractually obligated 75 
percent of its funding from the first disbursement of round 4 of the program. 

(g) The department and recipients shall post final round 6 program applications to their 
respective internet websites within 30 days of disbursal to the applicant. 
(h) (1) On or before January 31, 2027, a grantee shall submit to the department an 
update to their round 6 regionally coordinated homelessness action plan activities, 
which shall include updates on the obligation and expenditure activities, progress on 
their system performance and improvement plan, key actions and corresponding 
updates on system performance measures carried out pursuant Section 50240, as 
applicable. 



   
 

39 
 

(2) The department shall, within 30 days, review the update and report its findings to 
the participating grantee pursuant to this subdivision. 

(3) If the department finds that the grantee has adhered to the requirements of this 
section, or concludes that the grantee has addressed any shortcomings in the update, 
the department shall approve the update. 

(4) (A) If the department finds that a grantee failed to adhere to the requirements of 
this section, the department may require the participating jurisdictions in the region to 
make specific changes needed to meet the requirements of this section. If the 
department concludes that the grantee made insufficient progress on key actions or 
failed to improve on at least one-half of the region’s system performance measures, 
the department may require the participating jurisdictions to provide a corrective 
action plan to the update to the regionally coordinated action plan to address these 
findings. Participating jurisdictions shall accomplish these changes or submit a 
corrective action plan, as applicable, within 30 days of being notified by the 
department. 

(B) The department shall have 30 days to review the changes or corrective action 
plan, as applicable, to determine if they addressed the department’s concerns and 
approve the update, or to provide the grantee with additional guidance and a 
deadline for making changes or further amending the corrective action plan to 
address the department’s concerns. 

(5) (A) The department may withhold the remaining 50 percent of funds from a 
grantee until the department has approved the update to the grantee’s round 6 
regionally coordinated homelessness action plan. 

(B) The department shall provide technical assistance and support of jurisdictions 
efforts to comply with the requirements of this paragraph. 

(6) Regions are encouraged to update their memorandums of understanding to reflect 
their updated regionally coordinated homelessness action plan that have been 
approved pursuant to this subdivision. The department may ask for confirmation that 
a region has updated its memorandum of understanding to reflect a part of a 
corrective action required under this section. 

(7) In making determinations pursuant to this subdivision the department may provide 
exceptions to the requirement if the recipient demonstrates hardship by a disaster for 
which a state of emergency is proclaimed by the Governor pursuant to Chapter 7 
(commencing with Section 8550) of Division 1 of Title 2 of the Government Code. 

(8) After the department has deemed a regionally coordinated action plan compliant 
with this section, the grantee shall submit any proposed revisions to the department 
for review and approval. No later than 30 days from submission, the department shall 
review the proposed revisions and either approve the revisions or recommend 
changes. 



   
 

40 
 

(9) All proposed, approved, and amended regionally coordinated homelessness 
action plans shall be posted on the internet website of all participating jurisdictions in 
the regionally coordinated homelessness action plan, and the department shall post 
all action plans received from participating jurisdictions. 

(10) In determining whether the regionally coordinated homelessness action plan 
substantially complies with this article, the department may consult with any local 
government, public agency, group, or person, and shall receive and consider any 
written comments from any public agency, group, or person, regarding the action by a 
participating jurisdiction. 

(i) (1) A recipient shall contractually obligate not less than 75 percent, and shall expend 
not less than 50 percent, of the initial round 6 program allocations made to it pursuant to 
paragraph (2) of subdivision (f) no later than June 30, 2027. 

(2) The department shall disburse the remaining 50 percent of a recipient’s total base 
allocation pursuant to Section 50241 only after the recipient demonstrates all of the 
following: 

(A) Compliance with subdivision (h). 

(B) Compliance with the requirement to contractually obligate and expend a 
minimum amount of its round 6 program allocation pursuant to paragraph (1). 

(C) That the recipient has a compliant housing element as defined in Section 
65589.9 of the Government Code, if the recipient is a city or county. If the recipient 
does not have a compliant housing element, the department shall hold the 
disbursement until the recipient is housing element compliant, consistent with 
paragraph (3). 

(3) On or before December 31, 2028, a recipient shall return to the department any 
funds that have not been expended pursuant to this subdivision, to be allocated as 
supplemental awards by the department in accordance with Section 50244. 

(j) The department may request additional information from applicants, as needed, to 
meet other applicable reporting or audit requirements. 
(k) In addition to requirements in Section 50222, the department may monitor the 
expenditures and programmatic activities of an applicant, as the department considers 
necessary, to ensure compliance with round 6 program requirements. 
(l) The department may, as it considers appropriate or necessary, request the 
repayment of round 6 program funds from an applicant, or pursue any other remedies 
available to it by law for failure to comply with program requirements. 
(m) Any remaining amounts of round 6 base program allocation funds not expended by 
June 30, 2029, shall revert to, and be paid and deposited in, the General Fund. 
(Added by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 13. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

  



   
 

41 
 

50243. 
(a) The intent of round 6 is to reflect the state’s priorities to prevent and expeditiously 
reduce unsheltered homelessness through homelessness prevention activities, 
sustaining existing interim housing solutions, and permanent housing solutions, 
including long-term sustainability of affordable permanent supportive housing. 
(b) Applicants shall develop data-driven plans that fund the state’s priorities. 
(c) Applicants shall demonstrate how the region will use available resources to sustain 
all existing and, as applicable, any proposed interim housing investments within the 
region, including, but not limited to, use of local dedicated funding, Behavioral Health 
Services Act funds, or any funds pursuant to Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 
50216) or this chapter as long-term capitalized operating reserves, or any other local, 
state, or federal funding source. 
(d) Before proposing to use round 6 resources to fund new interim housing other than 
new interim housing for youth or proposing to use round 6 resources to fund 
nonhousing solutions, applicants shall first demonstrate that their region has dedicated 
sufficient resources from other sources to sustain their existing and planned portfolio of 
long-term permanent affordable housing and existing interim solutions, including capital 
and operating costs. 
(e) Subject to subdivision (d), allowable uses of round 6 base program allocation funds 
include all of the following: 

(1) Permanent housing solutions that can prevent or serve those experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness, including, but not limited to, persons experiencing 
homelessness coming from encampment sites. These uses include all of the 
following: 

(A) Rental subsidies, including to support placement of individuals in CARE Court. 

(B) Landlord incentives, such as security deposits, holding fees, funding for 
needed repairs, and recruitment and relationship management costs. 

(C) Move-in expenses. 

(D) Operating Subsidies in new and existing affordable or supportive housing units 
serving people experiencing or at risk of homelessness, including programs such 
as Homekey, new or existing residential care facilities, funded by the Behavioral 
Health Continuum Infrastructure Program or the Community Care Expansion 
Program. Operating Subsidies may include capitalized operating reserves. 

(E) Supportive services for people in permanent housing, so long as the services 
are trauma-informed and practice harm reduction, to include intensive case 
management services, assertive community treatment services, critical time 
intervention services, other tenancy support services, evidence-based 
employment services, coordinating mental health, substance use, and primary 
care treatment, or other evidence-based supportive services to increase housing 
retention. 

(F) Capital for permanent housing that serves people experiencing homelessness, 



   
 

42 
 

including conversion of underutilized buildings or existing interim or transitional 
housing into permanent housing. 

(G) Services coordination, which may include access to workforce, education, and 
training programs, or other services needed to promote housing stability in 
permanent supportive housing. 

(2) Homelessness prevention includes, but is not limited to, both of the following: 

(A) Rental assistance, rapid rehousing, and other programs as long as they 
prioritize households with incomes at or below 30 percent of the area median 
income. 

(B) Diversion support programs that prevent people at risk of or recently 
experiencing homelessness from entering unsheltered or sheltered 
homelessness. 

(3) Interim housing solutions, that can provide shelter to those experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness, including, but not limited to, persons experiencing 
homelessness coming from encampment sites. These uses include all of the 
following: 

(A) Navigation centers that are low barrier, as defined in Sections 65660 and 
65662 of the Government Code. 

(B) Operating expenses for existing congregate shelter sites. 

(C) Operating expenses in new or existing noncongregate shelter sites and 
transitional housing for youth. 

(D) Motel or hotel vouchers. 

(E) Services provided to people in interim housing, to include trauma-informed and 
evidence-based intensive case management services, housing navigation, 
connecting people to substance use or mental health treatment, public benefits 
advocacy, and other supportive services to promote stability and referral into 
permanent housing. 

(F) Capital funding to build new noncongregate shelter sites and transitional 
housing sites for homeless youth, including for construction, rehabilitation, and 
capital improvements to convert existing congregate sites into noncongregate 
sites. 

(G) Capital funding for clinically enhanced congregate or noncongregate shelter 
sites. 

(H) Youth-focused services in transitional housing. 



   
 

43 
 

(I) Improvements to existing emergency shelters to lower barriers and increase 
privacy. 

(J) Any new interim sheltering funded by round 6 funds shall be low barrier, 
comply with Housing First as provided in Chapter 6.5 (commencing with Section 
8255) of Division 8 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and prioritize 
interventions other than congregate shelters except clinically enhanced 
congregate shelters as specified in subparagraph (G). 

(4) Nonhousing solutions, including nonhousing services for people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness, including, but not limited to, persons experiencing 
homelessness from encampment sites and those transitioning out of encampment 
sites. This includes street outreach, evidence-based engagement services, intensive 
case management services, assertive community treatment, housing navigation, 
harm reduction services, coordination with street-based health care services, and 
hygiene services for people living in encampments and unsheltered individuals. 

(f) (1) Applicants may request, in a form prescribed by the department, approval to 
utilize round 6 funding on allowable expenditures outside of the state’s intended 
priorities, as enumerated in this section. 

(2) The department may grant applicants preapproval to utilize program funding on 
allowable uses only after an applicant has demonstrated that state priorities are 
adequately resourced, and the applicant has exhausted all means to accomplish 
these priorities. 

(g) An applicant shall not use more than 7 percent of a round 6 program allocation for 
administrative costs incurred by the city, county, continuum of care, or tribe to 
administer its program allocation. For purposes of this subdivision, “administrative 
costs” does not include staff or other costs directly related to implementing activities 
funded by the program allocation. 
(h) (1) The department may authorize an applicant to use up to an additional 1 percent 
for costs related to the Homeless Management Information System. Related costs 
include Homeless Management Information System licenses, training, system operating 
costs, and costs associated with carrying out related activities. 

(2) Upon agreement between the grantee and the Homeless Management 
Information System lead entity, the grantee shall transfer the authorized amount of 
funds pursuant to paragraph (1) for related costs to the Homeless Management 
Information System lead entity. The department shall specify the method and manner 
for this transfer of funds. 

(i) A recipient of a round 6 program allocation shall comply with Housing First as 
provided in Chapter 6.5 (commencing with Section 8255) of Division 8 of the Welfare 
and Institutions Code. 
(j) Notwithstanding Section 27011 of the Government Code, or any other law governing 
the deposit of funds in the county treasury, a county may accept or deposit into the 
county treasury funds from any source for the purpose of administering a project, 
proposal, or program under this article. 



   
 

44 
 

(k) For purposes of Section 1090 of the Government Code, a representative of a county 
serving on a board, committee, or body with the primary purpose of administering funds 
or making funding recommendations for applications pursuant to this article shall have 
no financial interest in any contract, program, or project voted on by the board, 
committee, or body on the basis of the receipt of compensation for holding public office 
or public employment as a representative of the county. 
(l) A program recipient shall not use funding from the program allocated under this 
section to supplant Encampment Resolution Funding program grant funds provided 
under Section 50251. 
(Added by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 13. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

50244. 
(a) For the purposes of this section, the supplemental Homekey program shall be the 
same as the program set forth in Section 50675.1.3, except that the applicants are 
limited to those described in meeting the criteria set forth in subdivisions (b) and (c). 
(b) Tribal applicants, cities, and counties that are eligible for round 6 shall be eligible, 
separately, for supplemental Homekey funding pursuant to this section. 
(c) To be eligible for the supplemental Homekey program, a city or county must satisfy 
both of the following: 

(1) Have a compliant Housing Element as defined in Section 65589.9 of the 
Government Code by the time of being granted the award. This requirement does not 
apply to tribal applicants. 

(2) Have an approved regionally coordinated homelessness action plan pursuant to 
this article. This requirement does not apply to tribal applicants. 

(d) On or after January 1, 2026, the department shall make an application available for 
supplemental Homekey funding pursuant to this section. 
(e) Funding allocated by this section shall consist of round 6 funding provided in 
paragraph (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 50241. 
(Added by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 13. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention Program Reporting 
 
Health and Safety Code – HSC 
50220.6. 
(a) Notwithstanding any law, a recipient that enters into an agreement as set forth in 
paragraph (10) of subdivision (a) of Section 50219, paragraph (7) of subdivision (b) of 
Section 50225.5, clause (iii) of subparagraph (B) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of 
Section 50220.7, and subparagraph (C) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 
50220.8 shall provide data elements, including, but not limited to, health information, in 
a manner consistent with federal law, to the statewide Homeless Management 
Information System when the system becomes available. 
(b) (1) The council shall specify the form and substance of the required data elements. 

(2) The council may, as required by operational necessity, amend or modify data 



   
 

45 
 

elements, disclosure formats, or disclosure frequency. 

(c) Any health information provided to, or maintained within, the statewide Homeless 
Management Information System shall not be subject to public inspection or disclosure 
under the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 
7920.000) of Title 1 of the Government Code). 
(d) For purposes of this paragraph, “health information” means “protected health 
information,” as defined in Part 160.103 of Title 45 of the Code of Federal Regulations, 
and “medical information,” as defined in subdivision (j) of Section 56.05 of the Civil 
Code. 
(Amended by Stats. 2022, Ch. 28, Sec. 98. (SB 1380) Effective January 1, 2023.) 

50221. 
(a) After receiving program funds, a recipient, by April 1 of the year following receipt of 
the funds and annually on that date thereafter until all funds have been expended, shall 
submit a report to the department on a form and method provided by the department 
that includes all of the following, as well as any additional information the department 
deems appropriate or necessary: 

(1) An ongoing tracking of the specific uses and expenditures of any program funds 
broken out by eligible uses listed, including the current status of those funds. 

(2) The number of homeless individuals served by the program funds in that year, and 
the total number of homeless individuals served in all years of the program. 

(3) The types of housing assistance provided, broken out by the number of 
individuals. 

(4) Outcome data for an individual served through program funds, including the type 
of housing that an individual exited to, the percent of successful housing exits, and 
exit types for unsuccessful housing exits. 

(b) No later than April 1, 2026, each applicant that receives a round 1 program 
allocation shall submit to the department a final report in a format provided by the 
department, as well as detailed uses of all program funds. 
(c) The department shall post this information to its internet website within 30 days of 
receipt and provide notice to the Senate Housing Committee, Assembly Housing and 
Community Development Committee, and the appropriate budget committees. 
(Amended by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 6. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

50222. 
(a) Beginning in 2021, in addition to the data required on the report under Section 
50221, applicants shall provide the following information for both rounds of program 
allocations through a data collection, reporting, performance monitoring, and 
accountability framework, as established by the council: 

(1) Data collection shall include, but not be limited to, information regarding 
individuals and families served, including demographic information, information 



   
 

46 
 

regarding partnerships among entities or lack thereof, and participant and regional 
outcomes. 

(2) The performance monitoring and accountability framework shall include clear 
metrics, which may include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(A) The number of individual exits to permanent housing, as defined by the United 
States Department of Housing and Urban Development, from unsheltered 
environments and interim housing resulting from this funding. 

(B) Racial equity, as defined by the department in consultation with 
representatives of state and local agencies, service providers, the Legislature, and 
other stakeholders. 

(C) Any other metrics deemed appropriate by the department and developed in 
coordination with representatives of state and local agencies, advocates, service 
providers, and the Legislature. 

(3) Data collection and reporting requirements shall support the efficient and effective 
administration of the program and enable the monitoring of jurisdiction performance 
and program outcomes. 

(b) Based on the data collection, reporting, performance monitoring, and accountability 
framework established by the department pursuant to subdivision (a), all recipients of a 
program allocation, no later than April 1 of the year following receipt of funds, and 
annually on that date thereafter until all funds have been expended, shall submit a 
report to the department in a format provided by the department. 
(c) No later than April 1, 2027, each recipient that receives a round 2 program allocation 
shall submit to the department a final report in a format provided by the department, as 
well as detailed uses of all program funds. 
(d) Data collection and data sharing pursuant to this chapter shall be conducted and 
maintained in accordance with all applicable state and federal privacy and confidentiality 
laws and regulations. 
(e) The client information and records of services provided pursuant to this chapter shall 
be subject to the requirements of Section 10850 of the Welfare and Institutions Code 
and shall be exempt from inspection under the California Public Records Act (Division 
10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Part 1 of the Government Code). 
(f) Notwithstanding any other law, data collected through the administration and 
operation of this chapter shall be captured based on the Homeless Management 
Information System data standards set forth by the United States Department of 
Housing and Urban Development and by any other means specified by the department, 
and may be shared with other programs to maximize the efficient and effective provision 
of public benefits and services, and to evaluate this chapter or its impact on other public 
benefit and services programs. 
(Amended by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 7. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

50223.   



   
 

47 
 

(a) Beginning with round 3 of the program, in addition to the data required under 
Sections 50221 and 50222, applicants shall provide the following information for all 
rounds of program allocations through a data collection, reporting, performance 
monitoring, and accountability framework, as established by the council: 

(1) (A) Data on the applicant’s progress towards meeting their system performance 
measures, which shall be submitted annually on April 1 of each year reporting 
through December 31 of the prior year for the duration of the program. 

(B) If the applicant has not made significant progress toward their system 
performance measures, the applicant shall submit a description of barriers and 
possible solutions to those barriers. 

(C) Applicants that do not demonstrate significant progress towards meeting 
system performance measures shall accept technical assistance from the 
department and may also be required to limit the allowable uses of these program 
funds, as determined by the department. 

(2) A monthly fiscal report of program funds expended and obligated in each 
allowable budget category approved in their application for program funds. 

(b) No later than April 1, 2027, each recipient that receives a round 3 program 
allocation shall submit to the department a final report in a format provided by the 
department, as well as detailed uses of all program funds. 
(c) No later than April 1, 2028, each recipient that receives a round 4 program 
allocation shall submit to the department a final report in a format provided by the 
department, as well as detailed uses of all program funds. 
(d) No later than April 1, 2029, each recipient that receives a round 5 program 
allocation shall submit to the department a final report in a format provided by the 
department, as well as detailed uses of all program funds. 
(e) No later than April 1, 2030, each recipient that receives a round 6 allocation shall 
submit to the department a final report in a format provided by the department, as 
well as detailed uses of all program funds. 
(f) The department shall post the information described in this section on its internet 
website within 30 days of its receipt of the information, and provide notice to the 
Senate Committee on Housing, Assembly Committee on Housing and Community 
Development, and the appropriate budget committees.  
(Amended by Stats. 2024, Ch. 48, Sec. 8. (AB 166) Effective July 2, 2024.) 

Welfare and Institutions Code - WIC 
8256. 
(a)  Except as provided in subdivision (c), agencies and departments administering 

state programs created on or after July 1, 2017, shall collaborate with the 
California Interagency Council on Homelessness to adopt guidelines and 
regulations to incorporate core components of Housing First. 

(b) By July 1, 2019, except as otherwise provided in subdivision (c), agencies and 
departments administering state programs in existence prior to July 1, 2017, shall 



   
 

48 
 

collaborate with the council to revise or adopt guidelines and regulations that 
incorporate the core components of Housing First, if the existing guidelines and 
regulations do not already incorporate the core components of Housing First. 

(c) (1)  For the Returning Home Well Program, the Specialized Treatment for 
Optimized Programming Program, and the Long-Term Offender Reentry 
Recovery Program, all of which are administered by the Department of 
Corrections and Rehabilitation, which fund recovery housing, as defined in 
paragraph (3), for parolees, as defined by Section 3000 of Title 15 of the 
California Code of Regulations, the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation 
shall do all of the following: 
(A) In coordination with the California Interagency Council on Homelessness, 
consult with the Legislature, the Business, Consumer Services and Housing 
Agency, the California Health and Human Services Agency, the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development, and other stakeholders to 
identify ways to improve the provision of housing to individuals who receive 
funding from that agency or department, consistent with the applicable 
requirements of state law. 

(B) Comply with the core components of Housing First, other than those 
components described in paragraphs (5) to (7), inclusive, of subdivision (b) of 
Section 8255. 

(C) Ensure that recovery housing programs meet the following requirements: 

(i) A recovery housing program participant shall sign an agreement upon entry 
that outlines the roles and responsibilities of both the participant and the program 
administrator to ensure individuals are aware of actions that could result in removal from 
the recovery housing program. Violations of the agreement shall not automatically result 
in discharge from the recovery housing program. 

(ii)  Efforts to link program participants to alternative housing options, including 
interim sheltering, permanent housing, or transitional housing, shall be documented. If a 
recovery housing program participant chooses to stop living in a housing setting with a 
recovery focus, is discharged from the program, or is removed from housing, the 
program administrator shall offer assistance in accessing other housing and services 
options, including options operated with harm-reduction principles, and identifying an 
alternative housing placement. This clause does not apply to an individual who leaves 
the program without notifying the program administrator. 

(iii) The program administrator shall offer program participants who inform the 
program administrator that they are leaving the program one or more of the following: 

(I) Tenant housing navigation services to permanent housing. 
(II) Connections to alternative housing providers. 
(III) Access to supportive services. 
(IV) Intake into a locally-coordinated entry system. 
(V) Warm handoff to a partner homeless services provider offering housing 

navigation. 
(iv) The recovery housing program administrator shall track and report annually, 

to the program’s state funding source, the housing outcome for each 



   
 

49 
 

program participant who is discharged, including, but not limited to, the 
following information: 
(I) The number of homeless individuals with a housing need served by the 

program funds that year, as well as the demographics of the population 
served. 

(II) Outcome data for all individuals served through program funds, including 
the type of housing that the individuals were connected to, the type of 
housing the individuals were exited to, the percent of housing exits that 
were successful, and exit types of unsuccessful housing exits. 

(v) The department shall make every effort to ensure that exits to homelessness 
are extremely rare. 

(2) The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation shall make efforts to reduce 
recidivism by offering participation to formerly incarcerated persons in 
recovery housing programs. Connections to safe and supportive housing is a 
critical priority for successful community reintegration. 

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, “recovery housing” means sober living 
facilities and programs that provide housing in a recovery-focused and peer-
supported community for people recovering from substance use issues. 
Participation is voluntary, unless that participation is pursuant to a court order 
or is a condition of release for individuals under the jurisdiction of a county 
probation department or the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation. 

(d) (1) Beginning on January 1, 2023, a grantee or entity operating any of the following 
state homelessness programs, as a condition of receiving state funds, shall enter 
the required data elements described in paragraph (8) on the individuals and 
families it serves into its local Homeless Management Information System, as 
required by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development 
guidance described in paragraph (8), unless otherwise exempted by state or 
federal law: 
(A) The program referred to as Homekey, as described in Section 50675.1.1 of the 
Health and Safety Code. 

(B) The Housing for a Healthy California Program established pursuant to Part 
14.2 (commencing with Section 53590) of Division 31 of the Health and Safety 
Code. 

(C) The No Place Like Home Program established pursuant to Part 3.9 
(commencing with Section 5849.1) of Division 5. 

(D) The Multifamily Housing Program (Chapter 6.7 (commencing with Section 
50675) of Part 2 of Division 31 of the Health and Safety Code). 

(E) The Veterans Housing and Homeless Prevention Act of 2014, as established 
by Article 3.2 (commencing with Section 987.001) of Chapter 6 of Division 4 of the 
Military and Veterans Code. 

(F) The Bringing Families Home Program, as established by Article 6 
(commencing with Section 16523) of Chapter 5 of Part 4 of Division 9. 



   
 

50 
 

(G) The CalWORKs Housing Support Program, as established by Article 3.3 
(commencing with Section 11330) of Chapter 2 of Part 3 of Division 9. 

(H) The Housing and Disability Income Advocacy Program, as established by 
Chapter 17 (commencing with Section 18999) of Part 6 of Division 9. 

(I) The Community Colleges Homeless and Housing Insecure Pilot Project, as 
established by funds appropriated by the Budget Act of 2019. 

(J) The Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention Program established in 
Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 50216) of Part 1 of Division 31 of the Health 
and Safety Code. 

(2) Council staff, in consultation with respective administering state agencies or 
departments, shall specify the entry format and disclosure frequency for the programs 
subject to this subdivision to submit the data elements as specified in paragraph (1) to 
inform and meet the council’s statewide objectives and goals described in Section 8257. 
(3) (A)   The requirements of paragraph (1) shall additionally apply to all new state 
homelessness programs that commence on or after July 1, 2021. 

(B) New state homelessness programs and new grantees of the existing state 
programs described in paragraph (1) may be granted an extension of up to one 
year from program launch to meet the requirements of this subdivision. 

(4) For purposes of this subdivision, state homelessness programs are defined as those 
programs that are funded, in whole or in part, by the state with the express 
purpose of addressing or preventing homelessness or providing services to people 
experiencing homelessness. This definition shall be broadly construed for the 
purpose of carrying out the requirements of this subdivision. 

(5) The requirements of paragraphs (1) and (3) do not supplant any existing 
requirements imposed on a grantee or entity operating a state program described 
in this subdivision that require the program to report data into their local Homeless 
Management Information Systems before January 1, 2023. 

(6) (A)   Any grantee or entity operating a program described in paragraph (1) or (3) 
that does not already collect and enter into the local Homeless Management 
Information System the data elements required under this subdivision shall, upon 
request, receive technical assistance and guidance from council staff and, as 
available, from federal partners, including, but not limited to, the United States 
Department of Housing and Urban Development. 
(B) When a grantee or entity operating a program requests technical assistance, 

the council shall inform the respective administering state agency or department and 
offer the opportunity to partner or coordinate the provision of technical assistance. 
(7) Any grantee or entity operating a program described in paragraph (1) shall, upon 
request, be granted an extension to meet the requirements in this subdivision, provided 
noncompliant grantees are making good faith progress towards meeting the 
requirements. An extension granted under this paragraph shall not extend beyond July 
1, 2023. For purposes of this paragraph, “making good faith progress” includes, but is 
not limited to, engaging in technical assistance offered under paragraph (6) and 



   
 

51 
 

establishing a plan to comply with this subdivision. 
(8) For purposes of this subdivision, required data elements are the Universal Data 

Elements (Items 3.01–3.917) and the Common Data Elements (Items 4.02–4.20 
and Item W5 of the Individual Federal Partner Program Elements) drawn from the 
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development Homeless 
Management Information System Data Standards. When necessary, due to federal 
changes to the items indicated in this paragraph, the required data elements may 
be amended to maintain alignment with federal standards. 

(9) Beginning January 1, 2022, council staff shall provide aggregate data summaries 
collected in full pursuant to this subdivision to the respective administering state 
agencies or departments that oversee relevant programs within 45 days of receipt. 
Where feasible, council staff shall notify the respective administering state 
agencies or departments at least 14 days before sharing, publicly using, or 
referencing the data, including, but not limited to, using the data for 
any substantive analysis, summary statistics, or other findings. 

(e) The Board of State and Community Corrections Adult Reentry Grant programs that 
fund recovery housing subject to this chapter shall apply the requirements of this 
chapter prospectively beginning July 1, 2022, through any new contracts or 
agreements. 

(Amended by Stats. 2022, Ch. 70, Sec. 48. (SB 197) Effective June 30, 2022.) 
  



   
 

52 
 

Appendix B: Definitions 
 
The following HHAP 6 program terms are defined in accordance with HSC section 
50230-50244: 

a) “Agency” means the Business, Consumer Services and Housing Agency. 
b) “Applicant” means a continuum of care, city, county, or a region for purposes of 

the HHAP Round 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. 
c) “City” means a city or city and county that is legally incorporated to provide local 

government services to its population. A city can be organized either under the 
general laws of this state or under a charter adopted by the local voters. 

d) “Continuum of care” means the same as defined by the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development in Section 578.3 of Title 24 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations. 

e) “Coordinated Entry System” means a centralized or coordinated process 
developed pursuant to Section 578.7 of Title 24 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations, as that section read on January 10, 2019, designed to coordinate 
homelessness program participant intake, assessment, and provision of referrals. 
In order to satisfy this subdivision, a centralized or coordinated assessment 
system shall cover the geographic area, be easily accessed by individuals and 
families seeking housing or services, be well advertised, and include a 
comprehensive and standardized assessment tool. 

f) “Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan” means the regionally 
coordinated homelessness action plan described in Section 50240. 

g) Unless context requires otherwise, “council,” with respect to the administration of 
HHAP Round 6, means the California Department of Housing and Community 
Development. 

h) “Department” means the Department of Housing and Community Development. 
i)  “Emergency shelter” has the same meaning as defined in subdivision (e) of 

Section 50801. 
j) “Grantee” means an eligible applicant that has been awarded its initial Round 6 

base allocation or total Round 6 base allocation. 
k) “Homeless” has the same meaning as defined in Section 578.3 of Title 24 of the 

Code of Federal Regulations, as that section read on January 10, 2019. 
l) “Homeless Management Information System” means the information system 

designated by a continuum of care to comply with federal reporting requirements 
as defined in Section 578.3 of Title 24 of the Code of Federal Regulations. The 
term “Homeless Management Information System” also includes the use of a 
comparable database by a victim services provider or legal services provider that 
is permitted by the federal government under Part 576 of Title 24 of the Code of 
Federal Regulations. 

m) “Homeless point-in-time count” means the most recently available point-in-time 
count data as reflected in the Annual Homeless Assessment Report released by 
the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 

n) “Homeless youth” means an unaccompanied youth between 12 and 24 years of 
age who is experiencing homelessness, as defined in Section 725(2) of the 
federal McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. Sec. 11434a(2)). 



   
 

53 
 

“Homeless youth” includes unaccompanied youth who are pregnant or parenting. 
o) “Housing First” has the same meaning as in Section 8255 and 8256 of the 

Welfare and Institutions Code, including all of the core components listed therein. 
p) “Memorandum of understanding” has the same meaning as defined in 

subdivision (f) of Section 50240. 
q) “Navigation center” means a Housing First, low-barrier, service-enriched shelter 

focused on moving homeless individuals and families into Permanent Housing 
that provides temporary living facilities while case managers connect individuals 
experiencing homelessness to income, public benefits, health services, shelter, 
and housing. 

r) “Program”: Unless context requires otherwise, “Program” means Round 6 of the 
Homeless Housing, Assistance, and Prevention program, or round 6, established 
pursuant to Article 2 (commencing with Section 50239). 

s) “Base program allocation” means the portion of program funds available as 
defined in Section 50241(a)(1) to expand or develop local capacity to address 
immediate homelessness challenges pursuant to the allowable uses specified in 
Section 50243. 

t) “Homekey supplemental allocation” means the portion of program funds available 
to eligible jurisdictions as supplementary Homekey resources, as defined in 
Section 50234(a)(3) and 50241(a)(2) and administered under the Homekey+ 
Program. 

u) “Recipient” means a jurisdiction that receives funds pursuant to this chapter for 
the purposes of the program. 

v) “Region” means the geographic area served by a county, including all cities and 
continuum of care within it. A region that has a continuum of care that serves 
multiple counties may submit a plan that covers multiple counties and the cities 
within them, or the continuum of care may participate in the regionally 
coordinated homelessness action plan of each individual county that is part of the 
continuum of care along with the cities within the county. 

1. All continuums of care within the County of Los Angeles shall be considered 
part of a single region, along with the county and big cities within the county. 

w) “Small jurisdiction” means a city that is under 300,000 in population as of January 
1, 2022, according to data published on the internet website of the Department of 
Finance. 

x) “Tribe” or “tribal applicant” means a federally recognized tribal government 
pursuant to Section 4103 of Title 25 of the United States Code that is located in 
California. 

 
Additional Definitions for the purposes of this NOFA: 

y) “Administrative Entity” means the entity that will enter into contract with HCD to 
receive HHAP funds directly for its own allocation (and the allocation(s) of other 
Eligible Applicants in the region when designated). The Administrative Entity is 
responsible for HHAP 6 funds and meeting the terms and conditions of the 
contract. Broadly speaking, this means administering funds, contracting (when 
necessary) with sub-recipients, and reporting on HHAP 6 dollars and activities to 
HCD. 



   
 

54 
 

z) “Eligible Applicant” means a City, or a City that is also a county, that has a 
population of 300,000 or more, as of January 1, 2022; a county; or a Continuum 
of Care. 

aa) “Expended” means the amount of HHAP 6 funding which the Grantee has 
obligated under contract or subcontract that has been fully paid and no invoices 
remain outstanding. 

bb) “New Interim Housing” means eligible uses as defined in HSC 50243 
(e)(3)(A),(F),(G), and (J). New Interim Housing that meets the Youth Set Aside 
does not trigger the requirement to document the Sustainability of the Region’s 
Permanent Housing Portfolio pursuant to HSC section 50243(d). 

cc) “Large City” means a City, or a City that is also a county, that has a population of 
300,000 or more, as of January 1, 2022. 

dd) “Obligated” means the amount of HHAP 6 funding for which the Grantee has 
placed orders, awarded contracts, received services, or entered into similar 
transactions that require payment. HHAP 6 Grantees must obligate the funds by 
the statutory deadlines set forth in this NOFA. 

  



   
 

55 
 

Appendix C: HHAP 6 Allocation Methodology Overview  
 
HHAP 6 Allocation Amounts 
 
Per HSC 50241(a), HHAP 6 funds are allocated based on each Eligible Applicant’s 
proportionate share of California’s homeless population, as reported in the 2024 Point-
In-Time (PIT) count. 
 
Basic Program Allocations 

1. Funding Breakdown: 
a. 80% of Total Funding: $800 million of the $1 billion total. 
b. Less 5% Administrative Costs: $760 million available for allocations. 

2. Allocation Categories: 
a. Continuums of Care (CoCs): 30% of $760 million. 
b. Large Cities (population ≥300,000): 42% of $760 million. 
c. Counties: 28% of $760 million. 

 
Continuum of Care Allocation Statute 
HSC 50241(a)(1)(A) 
Thirty percent of the funds described in this paragraph shall be available to continuums 
of care. The Department shall calculate these allocations to a continuum of care based 
on each continuum of care’s proportionate share of the state’s total homeless 
population, based on the homeless point-in-time count. The Department shall not award 
more than 40 percent of the allocation made pursuant to this subparagraph to a 
continuum of care. 
 
CoC Allocation Methodology: 
Using the 2024 PIT count, for each CoC, multiply its proportionate share of the state’s 
total homeless population by the CoC allocation total ($228 million) to determine its 
individual allocation. For example, if a CoC represents 5 percent of the state’s total 
homeless population, its individual allocation would be 0.05 × $228 million = $11.4 
million. If any CoC’s allocation exceeds $91.2 million (40 percent of the CoC allocation 
total), the excess amount is redistributed to all other CoCs proportionately. 

 
Large Cities Allocation Statute 
HSC 50241(a)(1)(B) 
(B) Forty-two percent of the funds described in this paragraph shall be available to each 
city, or a city that is also a county, that has a population of 300,000 or more, as of 
January 1, 2022, according to data published on the Department of Finance’s internet 
website. The Department shall calculate the allocation to a city based on the city’s 
proportionate share of the total homeless population of the region served by the 
continuum of care within which the city is located, based on the homeless point-in-time 
count. The Department shall not award more than 45 percent of the program allocation 
made pursuant to this subparagraph to a city. If more than one recipient within the 
continuum of care meets the requirements of this subparagraph, the proportionate 
share of funds shall be equally allocated to those jurisdictions. 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-allocations.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/ahar/2024-ahar-part-1-pit-estimates-of-homelessness-in-the-us.html
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/datasets/ahar/2024-ahar-part-1-pit-estimates-of-homelessness-in-the-us.html


   
 

56 
 

Large City Allocation Methodology: 
• If there is only one Large City (defined as a city, or a city that is also a county, 

with a population greater than 300,000) within a CoC, that Large City’s allocation 
will be calculated as 100 percent of that CoC’s proportionate share of the state’s 
total homeless population, but only among CoCs that include a Large City. The 
result of that percentage is then multiplied by the Large City allocation total 
($319.2 million). 

o Example: If the CoC represents 10 percent of the state’s total homeless 
population among CoCs that include a Large City, the Large City’s 
allocation is 0.10 × $319.2 million = $31.92 million. 

• If two or more Large Cities exist within the same CoC, their combined 
allocation is that CoC’s proportionate share of the state’s total homeless 
population (again, only among CoCs that include a Large City), multiplied by 
$319.2 million, and then split evenly among those Large Cities. 

o Example: If City A and City B are both Large Cities in the same CoC, and 
that CoC represents 5 percent of the state’s total homeless population 
among CoCs that include a Large City, their total Large City allocation is 
0.05 × $319.2 million = $15.96 million, and each City receives $7.98 
million. 

• If any Large City exceeds $143.64 million (45 percent of the Large City 
allocation total), the excess is redistributed to all other Large Cities 
proportionately. 

 
County Allocation Statute 
HSC 50241(a)(1)(C) 
(C) Twenty-eight percent of the funds described in this paragraph shall be available to 
each county. The Department shall calculate the allocation to a county based on the 
county’s proportionate share of the total homeless population of the region served by 
the continuum of care within which the county is located, based on the homeless point-
in-time count. The Department shall not award more than 40 percent of the program 
allocation made pursuant to this subparagraph to a county. 
County Allocation Methodology: 

• If there is only one county within a CoC, its allocation will be 100 percent of 
that CoC’s proportionate share of the state’s total homeless population, multiplied 
by the county allocation total ($212.8 million). 

o Example: If a county is the only county in a CoC and that CoC represents 
10 percent of the state’s total homeless population, the county’s allocation 
is 0.10 × $212.8 million = $21.28 million. 

• If two or more counties exist within a CoC, each county’s allocation is first 
determined by its share of that CoC’s overall PIT count, then multiplied by the 
CoC’s proportionate share of the state’s total homeless population, and finally 
multiplied by $212.8 million. 

o Example: If County A and County B share a CoC that represents 5 
percent of the state’s total homeless population, and County A makes up 
40 percent of that CoC’s PIT count while County B makes up 60 percent, 
then: 



   
 

57 
 

 County A’s allocation = 0.40 × (0.05 × $212.8 million) = $4.256 
million. 

 County B’s allocation = 0.60 × (0.05 × $212.8 million) = $6.384 
million. 

• If any county exceeds $85.12 million (40 percent of the county allocation total), 
the excess amount is redistributed to all other counties proportionately. 



Page 1 of 25 
 

 

HHAP Round 6 Regional Application Template 
Purpose of this Template  

The Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) is providing this 
Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention Program (HHAP) Regional Application 
Template (template) as a tool to help HHAP Round 6 (HHAP 6) regional applicants prepare 
responses for subsequent submission through the official online application portal. The 
template closely mirrors the online application portal and is intended to support the 
development of the regional application for approval by HCD as required in AB 166 (Health 
& Safety Code § 50239 and 50242, et seq.).   
 

The template will not be collected by HCD, nor will HCD review any template in lieu of an 
official regional application submission. Applicants are responsible for inputting the 
required information into the online application portal and submitting the official regional 
application in the portal no later than 5:00 p.m. on Friday, August 29, 2025.  
 
The regional application consists of the following Sections: 

• Section 1. Regional Identification and Contracting Information 
• Section 2. Documentation and Certification of Stakeholder Engagement  
• Section 3. Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan 

o 3.a. Regional Partners’ Roles and Responsibilities  
o 3.b. System Performance Measures Improvement Plan 

• Section 4. HHAP 6 Funding Plan  
o 4.a. Proposed Funding Activities 
o 4.b. Sustainability of the Region’s Interim Housing Portfolio 
o 4.c. Sustainability of the Region’s Permanent Housing Portfolio (If applicable) 
o 4.d. Documentation of Youth Set Aside Requirement 

• Section 5. Regional Memorandum of Understanding MOU and Application Certification 
 
Green tables describe the steps required to complete each section and provide guidance on how to 
use the template and/or minimum requirements. 
 
Blue tables capture the application data and mirror the data fields in the online application portal. 
 
 

https://www.cognitoforms.com/CaliforniaInteragencyCouncilOnHomelessness/HHAPRound6Application


Page 2 of 25 
 

HHAP 6 Regional Application Template 

Section 1. Region Identification and Contracting Information 

Steps to complete this section 
1. Select the Continuum of Care (CoC) Region. The definition of “Region” is the geographic area 

served by a county, including all cities and the CoC or CoCs within it (HSC 50230(v)). 
2. Indicate which Eligible Applicants are applying together as a region for HHAP 6 (i.e., which Eligible 

Applicants will administer the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan and be 
signatory to the Memorandum of Understanding). Eligible Applicants for HHAP 6 are all counties, 
all Continuums of Care, and Large Cities. 

3. For each participating Eligible Applicant, indicate whether and how the Eligible Applicant intends 
to contract with HCD (i.e., indicate whether the Eligible Applicant will act as their own 
Administrative Entity, or designate one of the other regional partners to administer their 
allocation and act as the Administrative Entity on their behalf).   

Guidance for this section 
Regional Application Participation 
Continuums of Care (CoCs)  

• A CoC that serves a single county must apply as part of the regional application with the 
county and any overlapping Large Cities. In this case, the CoC should select: “Is participating 
in this regional application as an Eligible Applicant.” 

• A CoC that serves multiple counties must either: apply as part of a single regional 
application with multiple counties and any overlapping Large Cities or participate in the 
regional application of each overlapping county and the Large Cities therein. When the CoC is 
participating in multiple regional applications, the CoC should select: “Is participating in this 
regional application as an Eligible Applicant” for the regional application that will include the 
CoC’s HHAP 6 funding plan, and should select: “Is participating in this regional application as 
a collaborator” for all other regional applications they are participating in. This will help to 
ensure the CoC’s funding plan is only collected on a single regional application. 

Large Cities (“City” or “Cities”) 
Large Cities must apply as part of the regional application with the applicable county and CoC.  
Counties 

• In a CoC that serves a single County, the County must apply as part of a regional application 
with the CoC and any overlapping Large Cities. 

• In a multi-county CoC, counties are strongly encouraged to apply in collaboration with other 
counties that are served by the same CoC. At a minimum, each County must apply with the 
overlapping CoC.  

LA Region 
All CoCs within the County of Los Angeles shall be considered part of a single region, along with the 
County and Large Cities within the county and therefore must apply together. (HSC § 50230(v)(2).) 
Contracting 
Each Eligible Applicant has the discretion to administer their base allocation directly or may 
designate an Eligible Applicant in their region to serve as their Administrative Entity. The selections 
made in this section will indicate which Eligible Applicant will enter into contract with HCD to 
administer each Eligible Applicant’s HHAP 6 allocation. For reference, HHAP 6 allocations are 
available on HCD’s HHAP website.  

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-allocations.pdf


Page 3 of 25 
 

The Administrative Entity is responsible for meeting the terms and conditions of the contract, which 
include, but is not limited to, contracting (when necessary) with sub-recipients, and fulfilling all 
monthly, annual, final, and Homeless Management Information System (HMIS) reporting 
requirements. 

• If you plan to contract with HCD to receive and administer only your (individual) HHAP 6 
allocation, select: “Will enter into contract with HCD to receive and administer their HHAP 6 
allocation” under the contracting selection. 

• If you do not plan to contract with HCD and instead plan to identify another participating 
Eligible Applicant in the region to enter into contract with HCD to receive and administer 
your HHAP 6 allocation, select: “Identify another participating Eligible Applicant in their region to 
enter into contract with HCD to receive and administer their HHAP 6 allocation” under the 
contracting selection. Once selected, you will be prompted to designate the Administrative Entity 
from a list of other Eligible Applicants in the region. 

• If you plan to contract with HCD to receive and administer multiple HHAP 6 allocations 
within your region, select: “Will enter into contract with HCD to receive and administer their 
HHAP 6 allocation and allocation(s) from other Eligible Applicants in the region” under the 
contracting selection. 

Please select the Continuum of Care Region 
Continuum of Care Region 
Choose an item. 

Guidance 
The table below is formatted as “repeating content”.  
 
To add an Eligible Applicant, click anywhere in the table to reveal the content border, then click the 
(+) that appears on the right-hand margin of the border. This will not work if the template is open in a 
web browser; the template must be open in the Microsoft Word application. 

Eligible Applicant  

Choose an item. 

Participation Status  

Choose an item. 

Contracting Status 

Choose an item. 

Designated Administrative Entity (if applicable)  

Choose an item. 

Contact Title 

 

Contact Name 

 



Page 4 of 25 
 

Contact Email 

 

Contact Phone 

 

Section 2. Documentation and Certification of Stakeholder 
Engagement 

Steps to complete this section 
1. Provide the dates for which at least three public meetings were held to support the development of 

the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (Plan). 
2. Describe how each stakeholder group from the list provided was invited and encouraged to 

engage in the Plan. 
3. Describe the specific input from the public meetings that was incorporated into the Plan. 
4. Certify that all participating Eligible Applicants met the process requirements for developing the 

Plan. 

Meeting Dates 

Guidance  
No less than three (3) public meetings must be held for each Regionally Coordinated 
Homelessness Action Plan. Applicants should retain documentation of the meetings in 
alignment with HCD's records retention requirement outlined in the HHAP 6 NOFA and should 
upload relevant documentation to support certification of Section 2 of the regional application. 
 
To add additional meetings, click into the last row of the table, then press “tab” on your keyboard. 

Meeting Dates 

Click or tap to enter a date. 

Click or tap to enter a date. 

Click or tap to enter a date. 

Stakeholder Engagement 

Guidance  
A description is required for each stakeholder group engaged in development of the 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. In addition to providing the information 
required below, applicants should retain documentation of the meetings in alignment with HCD's 
records retention requirement outlined in the HHAP 6 NOFA and should upload relevant 
documentation to support certification of Section 2 of the regional application. Documentation of 
stakeholder engagement may include copies of meeting invites and invitee lists, drafts provided 
for feedback, etc.  

Stakeholders Description of how stakeholders 
were invited and encouraged to 
engage in the public stakeholder 
process 

Describe the specific input from 
stakeholders that was 
incorporated into the Plan 
 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


Page 5 of 25 
 

People with lived 
experience of 
homelessness, 
including but not 
limited to survivors of 
domestic violence 

  

Youth with lived 
experience of 
homelessness 

  

Local department 
leaders and staff 
from qualifying 
smaller jurisdictions, 
including child 
welfare, public 
welfare, health care, 
behavioral health, 
justice, and 
education system 
leaders 

  

Homeless services 
and housing 
providers, including 
developers of 
permanent  

affordable housing 
operating within the 
region. 

  

Each Medi-Cal 
Managed Care Plan 
contracted with the 
State Department of 
Health Care Services 
in the region 

  

Federally recognized 
tribal governments 
pursuant to Section 
4103 of Title 25 of the 
United States Code 
that are within the 
region. 

  

Street medicine   



Page 6 of 25 
 

providers, victim 
service providers, and 
other service 
providers directly 
assisting people 
experiencing 
homelessness or at 
risk of homelessness 

Describe any other input from public meetings not captured above that was incorporated into 
the Plan. 

 
 
By checking this box, I certify that all participating Eligible Applicants met the public meeting 
process requirements in statute (HSC Section 50240(d) and (e)) and in the HHAP 6 NOFA in 
developing the Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan, documented in Section 2 of this 
regional application.   

☐ I certify under penalty of perjury that all of the information in Section 2, above, is true and 
accurate to the best of my knowledge. 

Optional Upload: Stakeholder Engagement  

Guidance  
Upload supporting documentation to support the region’s certification of Section 2 of this regional 
application, which may include meeting invites and invitee list. 

Section 3. Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan 

Guidance 
Applicants must submit a Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan (Plan) that fully 
complies with HSC section 50240(c). This Plan shall lay out a strategic approach to address 
homelessness within the region, emphasizing collaborative efforts among participating 
applicants.  
 
In developing the HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plans, regions should 
build upon their approved HHAP 5 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plans. This 
means regions should leverage and update information from their approved HHAP 5 Regionally 
Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan in corresponding sections of the proposed HHAP 6 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan.  

3.a. Regional Partners’ Roles and Responsibilities 
3.a.1. Outreach and Site Coordination 

Guidance  

Each Eligible Applicant in the region must describe how they currently, or will begin to, 
coordinate comprehensive outreach to individuals experiencing, and at risk of experiencing, 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


Page 7 of 25 
 

homelessness in the region, and coordinate on siting of services, shelters, and interim and 
permanent housing in the region.  

 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided.  

3.a.2. Siting and Use of Available Land 

Guidance  
Each Eligible Applicant in the region must describe how they will coordinate efforts to identify and 
promote use of available land for the production of interim or permanent housing.   

 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided.  

3.a.3. Development of Shelter, Interim and Permanent Housing Options 

Guidance  
Each Eligible Applicant in the region must describe how they are engaging housing developers 
working in the region, including developers of permanent supportive housing, to coordinate the 

Eligible Applicant Describe roles and responsibilities in outreach to individuals 
experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, homelessness in the 
region, and in coordination on citing of services, shelters, and 
interim and permanent housing in the region 

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  

Eligible Applicant Describe how the Eligible Applicant will coordinate efforts 
to identify and promote use of available land for the 
production of interim or permanent housing in the region 

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  



Page 8 of 25 
 

financing of interim and permanent housing. 
 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided. 
Eligible Applicant Describe your engagement with housing developers, 

including developers of permanent supportive housing, to 
coordinate the financing of interim and permanent housing  

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  

 

3.a.4. Coordination of and Connection to Service Delivery 

Guidance  
Each Eligible Applicant in the region must describe how they are coordinating, connecting, and 
delivering services - including Mental Health Services Act or Behavioral Health Services Act within 
the region - to individuals experiencing homelessness, or at risk of experiencing homelessness. 
 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided. 

 

3.a.5. Policies for Addressing Encampments 

Guidance  
Each Eligible Applicant in the region must identify all encampments within the region, with specific 
plans to address these encampments. If the scale of encampments in your region makes filling out 

Eligible Applicant Describe how the Eligible Applicant is coordinating, 
connecting, and delivering services - including Mental 
Health Services Act or Behavioral Health Services Act within 
the region - to individuals experiencing homelessness, or at 
risk of experiencing homelessness. 

Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  
Choose an item.  



Page 9 of 25 
 

the table provided difficult, Eligible Applicants may alternatively upload a map showing where 
encampments are concentrated, and report the information required for each encampment zone or 
if it is less burdensome, upload a spreadsheet containing the required information for each 
encampment zone.  
 
For each encampment/encampment zone, the region is required provide:  

1. An address or general location. 
2. Estimated population 
3. A specific plan to address the encampment/encampment zone (e.g., description of how 

many individuals are projected to be served by what type of housing solutions, how will 
regional partners collaborate). 

4. Key milestone dates to carry out the described plans (e.g., goal date for outreach, goal date 
for all encampment residents to transition into housing solutions). 

5. The encampment/encampment zone’s ERF grant status (active ERF project(s), applied for 
site(s), plans to apply for site(s)). 

6. If applicable, the ERF contract number(s). 
7. Lead entity for addressing the encampment/encampment zone. 

 
Regions may also choose to upload one or more maps of encampments/encampment zones within 
the region.  
 
To add additional encampments, click into the last row of the table, then press “tab” on your 
keyboard.  
 
Each Eligible Applicant must also confirm whether they have a current and formal policy to address 
encampments that complies with the California Interagency Council on Homelessness (Cal ICH) 
Guidance on Addressing Encampments.  
 

• If the policy fully complies with the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments, the 
Eligible Applicant must link to or upload the policy.  

• If the policy partially complies with the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments, the 
Eligible Applicant must describe what elements of the policy comply, and how. They also 
must link to or upload the policy.  

• If any Eligible Applicant does not have a current and formal policy to address 
encampments, they must describe their existing efforts to address encampments, actively 
commit to following the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments and identify a 
specific timeline by which they will adopt such a policy. 

 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided. 

 

Encampm
ent  

Addre
ss or 
Gener
al 
Locati
on 

Estimat
ed 
Populati
on 

What are 
the 
region’s 
specific 
plans to 
address 
this 
encampme

What 
are the 
Key 
Milesto
ne 
Dates 
to carry 
out the 

ERF 
Statu
s (site 
funde
d by 
ERF; 
Yes/N
o) 

If Yes, 
ERF 
Contra
ct # 

If No, 
are 
there 
current 
plans to 
submit 
an ERF 
applicati

Lead 
Entity for 
addressin
g this 
encampm
ent   



Page 10 of 25 
 

Optional: Encampments Excel  

Guidance  
If it is too burdensome to provide the required information in the table, Eligible Applicants may 
upload a spreadsheet containing the required information for each encampment zone in the 
region.  
 
For each encampment/encampment zone, the region is required provide:  

1. An address or general location. 
2. Estimated population 
3. A specific plan to address the encampment/encampment zone (e.g., description of how 

many individuals are projected to be served by what type of housing solutions, how will 
regional partners collaborate). 

4. Key milestone dates to carry out the described plans (e.g., goal date for outreach, goal date 
for all encampment residents to transition into housing solutions). 

5. The encampment/encampment zone’s ERF grant status (active ERF project(s), applied for 
site(s), plans to apply for site(s)). 

6. If applicable, the ERF contract number(s). 
7. Lead entity for addressing the encampment/encampment zone. 

 

Optional: Map of Encampments  

Guidance  
Upload one or more maps of encampments/encampment zones within the region. 

 
Eligible Applicants with a current and formal policy to address encampments that fully or partially 
complies with the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments must complete the following:  

Eligible Applicant Applicant confirms 
the plan complies 
with the Cal ICH 
Guidance on 
Addressing 
Encampments? 

If you selected “Yes, in 
part,” describe what 
elements of the policy 
do comply with the Cal 
ICH Guidance on 
Addressing 
Encampments, and 
specifically how they 
comply. 

Provide a link to the 
policy or upload a copy 

Choose an item. Choose an item.   

Choose an item. Choose an item.   

Choose an item. Choose an item.   

nt? describ
ed 
plan? 

on to 
address 
this 
site? 
(Yes/No) 

         

         



Page 11 of 25 
 

Choose an item. Choose an item.   

Choose an item. Choose an item.   

Choose an item. Choose an item.   

Choose an item. Choose an item.   

Choose an item. Choose an item.   
 
Eligible Applicants without a current and formal policy to address encampments that fully or 
partially complies with the Cal ICH Guidance on Addressing Encampments must complete the 
following:  

Eligible Applicant Describe 
existing 
efforts to 
address 
encampme
nts 
 

Does the Eligible 
Applicant actively 
commit to adopting a 
policy that complies 
with the Cal ICH 
Guidance on 
Addressing 
Encampment? 

Provide a specific 
timeline, including 
dates, for future 
adoption of formal 
policies that comply 
with the Cal ICH 
Guidance on 
Addressing 
Encampments. 

Choose an item.  Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  Choose an item.  

Choose an item.  Choose an item.  
 

3.a.6. Housing Element Compliance 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must indicate they have an adopted 
housing element that HCD has found substantially compliant with Housing Element Law, or if not 
compliant, provide a timeline for relevant milestones to achieve compliance.  
 
Milestones include but are not limited to the dates by which Eligible Applicants will: submit revised 
drafts that address all outstanding findings for HCD’s review, submit required rezones for HCD’s 
review, adopt the housing element, and anticipate final review and approval by HCD.  
 
Example timeline and milestones: 
8/15/2025: Jurisdiction provides revised draft addressing issues from last findings letter for HCD 
review and public posting. 
10/15/2025: HCD completes review of draft and determines there are no remaining issues, and the 



Page 12 of 25 
 

draft will be compliant once rezones are adopted, and housing element is adopted. 
12/15/2025: Jurisdiction adopts housing element and required rezones and submits documentation 
to HCD. 
2/15/2026: HCD completes review of adopted element and rezones to confirm they meet what was 
proposed in draft.  If adopted element and rezones meet requirements, jurisdiction is found 
compliant. 
 
Eligible Applicants within the region must have an adopted housing element that HCD has found 
substantially compliant to receive their remainder HHAP 6 disbursement. 
 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided. 

 

3.a.7. Housing Element Implementation 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must indicate if they are up to date 
on housing element program commitments, or if not, they must provide a timeline and plan to 
implement past due programs. 
 
Large City and county Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears 
in the dropdowns provided. 

Large 
City or 
county 
Eligible 
Applicant 

Is this Eligible 
Applicant's Housing 
Element 
Compliant? 

If not compliant, provide a timeline for all relevant 
milestones to achieve compliance (refer to Guidance and 
Example timeline and milestones for required level of detail).  
 

Choose 
an item. 

Choose an item.  

Choose 
an item. 

Choose an item.  

Choose 
an item. 

Choose an item.  

Choose 
an item. 

Choose an item.  

Choose 
an item. 

Choose an item.  

Choose 
an item. 

Choose an item.  

Choose 
an item. 

Choose an item.  

Choose 
an item. 

Choose an item.  

Large City or Has this Eligible Applicant If not, provide a specific timeline and 



Page 13 of 25 
 

 

3.a.8. Prohousing Designation 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must identify their Prohousing 
Designation status. 
 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided. 
Large City or 
county Eligible 
Applicant 
 

Current Prohousing Designation 
Status 

For Eligible Applicants that have not yet 
applied, list the  Prohousing Policies 
(as described in the Prohousing 
application) that they have adopted or 
plan to adopt in the future. 

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  
 

3.a.9. Housing Law Violations 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicant in the region must identify whether they have any 
potential or actual violations under investigation by HCD’s Housing Accountability Unit or the 
Attorney General’s Housing Justice Team. If any Eligible Applicant has a potential or actual violation 
under investigation, they must provide a timeline and plan to resolve the issue. 

county Eligible 
Applicant 
 

implemented all programs in their 
adopted Housing Element on the 
timelines identified therein? 

plan with dates to implement the past 
due programs. 

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-community-development/prohousing-designation-program
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-community-development/prohousing-designation-program


Page 14 of 25 
 

 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided. 
Eligible Applicant Does this Eligible Applicant have 

any potential or actual housing 
law violations with HCD’s 
Housing Accountability Unit or 
the Attorney General’s Housing 
Justice Team? 

If yes, provide a specific timeline and 
plan with dates to resolve the issue. 

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  
 

3.a.10. Surplus Land 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must identify whether they have 
made a central inventory of all surplus land and all lands in excess of their foreseeable needs as 
required by Government Code section 54230.  
 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided. 

Eligible Applicant Has this Eligible Applicant made a 
central inventory of all surplus 
land and all lands in excess of 
their foreseeable needs as 
required by Government Code 
section 54230? 

If not, the Eligible Applicant must 
provide a specific timeline and plan 
with dates to create such an inventory. 

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

Choose an item. Choose an item.  



Page 15 of 25 
 

 

3.a.11. Annual Progress Report 

Guidance  
Each Large City and county Eligible Applicants in the region must indicate they have submitted a 
timely and complete annual progress report for, at a minimum, the previous two years. Eligible 
Applicants can check their annual progress report status here: Annual Progress Reports - Data 
Dashboard and Downloads | California Department of Housing and Community Development 
 
Eligible Applicants must be identified using the standard name as it appears in the dropdowns 
provided. 
Eligible Applicant Has this Eligible Applicant submitted a timely and complete 

annual progress report for at a minimum, the past two years? 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

Choose an item. Choose an item. 

3.b. System Performance Measures Improvement Plan 
Available Funding Sources in the Region 

If applicable, list any funding sources mentioned in Section IV.A.3.b.ii. of the HHAP 6 NOFA that are 
not available in the region within the grant term (FY24/25-FY28/29). 

 

Key Actions to Improve the Region's CA SPMs 

Steps to complete this section 
The System Performance Measures Improvement plan documents all the Key Actions the regional 
partners are taking to improve their homelessness  CA System Performance Measures (SPMs) listed 
in Section IV.A.3.b.i. of the HHAP 6 NOFA. The plan may also include the Key Actions of small 
jurisdictions and/or tribal governments in the region that elect to engage and collaborate in the 
Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan.  
 
All items currently being funded through HHAP Rounds 1 through 5, as well as all activities 
proposed to be funded through HHAP 6, must be included as Key Actions in the System 
Performance Measures Improvement Plan. Each regional partner must also include the Key 
Actions they are taking beyond HHAP 6 funding to address homelessness. These Key Actions must 
include how each regional partner is improving the region’s CA SPMs through use of local, state, and 
federal funds. 

Choose an item. Choose an item.  

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-community-development/housing-element-implementation-and-apr-dashboard
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/planning-and-community-development/housing-element-implementation-and-apr-dashboard
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


Page 16 of 25 
 

 
The System Performance Measures Improvement Plan must include: 

• At least one Key Action related to reducing CA SPM: “The number of people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness” 

• At least one Key Action related to increasing CA SPM “the number of people exiting 
homelessness into Permanent Housing,” and 

• At least one Key Action with a specific focus on reducing first time instances of 
homelessness for those exiting institutional settings, including, but not limited to jails, 
prisons, and hospitals.  

 
Each Key Action must be described in clear, specific terms and must do the following: 

1. Identify the CA SPM(s) that the Key Action will improve (you may choose more than one SPM). 
2. Describe how the Key Action will improve the CA SPM(s). 
3. Identify the lead entity and collaborating entities partnering to achieve the Key Action. 

Collaborating entity/ies may include a group, organization, or jurisdiction within your region 
working to address or improve the system performance measure. This can be another 
participating Eligible Applicant, a system partner, or any organization actively participating in 
the Key Action. 

4. Provide the target date for milestones and completion of the Key Action. 
5. Provide a clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured. 
6. Identify the funding source(s) for the Key Action. 

a. Note: At a minimum, all funding sources listed in Section IV.A.3.b.ii. of the HHAP 6 
NOFA, excluding any that are unavailable to the region within the grant term 
(FY24/25-FY28/29), must be identified as funding sources for at least one Key Action 
within the System Performance Measures Improvement Plan. 

7. Describe how the funding source(s) will contribute to the achievement of the Key Action. 
b. Note: For HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, include the eligible use category or 
categories as applicable. 

8. Describe how the Key Action will address system performance disparities and ensure racial 
and gender equity in at least one of the following areas: Service Delivery, Housing 
Placements, Housing Retention, Changes to procurement, or other means of affirming racial 
and ethnic groups that are overrepresented among residents experiencing homelessness 
have equitable access to housing and services. 

Key Actions 

Guidance  
The tables below are formatted as “repeating content”. To add a Key Action, click anywhere in any 
table to reveal the content border, then click the (+) that appears on the right-hand margin of the 
border. This will not work if the template is open in a web browser; the template must be open in 
the Microsoft Word application. To ensure Key Actions may be easily referenced in later parts of the 
regional application template, applicants can refer to the # provided. E.g., Key Action 1, Key Action 
2, etc.  
 
To add additional rows to any given table, click into the last row of the table, then press “tab” on 
your keyboard. 

Key Action 1.  

Key Action  

 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


Page 17 of 25 
 

Identify the CA SPM(s) that will be improved by this Key Action and how.  

CA SPM Specific description of how the Key Action will improve this CA 
SPM 

  
 

Lead entity for the Key Action  

 Choose an item. 

Collaborating entity/ies  

 
 

Milestones for the Key Action Target dates for 
milestones  

  
 

Target date for completing the Key Action  

Click or tap to enter a date. 

Clear metric for how success of the Key Action will be measured  

 

Funding Sources for Key Action 

Guidance  
Applicants may identify other funding sources available within the region during the grant term 
(FY24/25- FY28/29) that support homelessness programming, housing, and system performance. 
 
For all HHAP 6-funded Key Actions, you must include the eligible use category or categories as 
applicable. 

Identify which of the following equity improvement areas will be addressed by the Key Action. 

Guidance  
At a minimum, each Key Action must address at least one equity improvement area. 

Funding source Description of how the funding will 
contribute to the achievement of the Key 
Action 

For HHAP 6-funded Key 
Actions only: Eligible use 
category to fund this Key 
Action. 

  Choose an item. 

Equity Area Description of how the Key Action will address system 
performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity in 
this area (choose one at a minimum, or more) 



Page 18 of 25 
 

 

Section 4. HHAP 6 Funding Plan 

Steps to complete this section 

State Priorities for HHAP 6 Funding: HHAP 6 is intended to reflect the state’s priorities to prevent 
and expeditiously reduce unsheltered homelessness through homelessness prevention activities 
and sustain existing Interim Housing Solutions, and Permanent Housing Solutions, including long-
term sustainability of interim housing and permanent affordable housing.  

To complete the HHAP 6 Funding Plan: 
1. Identify the Administrative Entity submitting the budget. 

o Provide the Tax ID/TIN, primary contact for the contract, contact email, contact 
phone, and address for where the HHAP 6 check will be mailed. 

o Provide the total dollar amount of the HHAP 6 allocation(s) being administered 
under the Funding Plan. 

• Reminder: This must account for 100 percent of the HHAP 6 
Allocation(s) the Administrative Entity will be responsible for 
administering. 

2. Describe all activities proposed to be funded by HHAP 6 in clear, specific terms, and:  
o Identify the HHAP 6 eligible use category under which each proposed activity is 

budgeted. Activities must be specific and may only be categorized under one eligible 
use category. Activities may not be categorized under multiple eligible use 
categories (including activities under the Youth Set Aside). 

o Provide the total dollar amount of HHAP 6 funding proposed for the activity. 
• Reminder: Administrative costs may not exceed 7% of all monies 

received. 
• Reminder: The Youth Set Aside (YSA) amounts, when combined, must 

total at least 10% of all monies received. 
o Identify which System Performance Measure Improvement Plan Key Action(s) the 

activity supports. 
o The total HHAP 6 funding proposed for the activity should account for all dollars 

budgeted toward that activity. These amounts, when added, must account for 100 
percent of the HHAP 6 Allocation(s) the Administrative Entity will be responsible for 
administering. 

3. Indicate whether the budget proposes to support ANY: 

Service Delivery  

Housing Placements  

Housing Retention  

Changes to procurement  

Other means of affirming racial 
and ethnic groups that are 
overrepresented among 
residents experiencing 
homelessness have equitable 
access to housing and 
services. 

 



Page 19 of 25 
 

o New interim housing (aside from those designated in the Youth Set Aside) and/or  
o non-housing solutions. 

 
Note: If the HHAP 6 budget proposes spending on New Interim Housing and/or Non-Housing 
Solutions, the region must document the sustainability of its permanent housing portfolio, 
as outlined in NOFA section IV.A.4.c, in the next section.  
 
The tables below are formatted as “repeating content”. To add an Administrative Entity and Funding 
Plan, click anywhere in any table to reveal the content border, then click the (+) that appears on the 
right-hand margin of the border. This will not work if the template is open in a web browser; the 
template must be open in the Microsoft Word application. 
 
To add additional rows to any given table, click into the last row in the table, then press “tab” on 
your keyboard. 

Administrative Entity 

Which Administrative Entity is submitting the below budget? 
Select Administrative Entity. 

Tax ID 
 

TIN 

Guidance  
Upload the Administrative Entity’s GovTIN form in the online application portal. 

Primary contact for the contract 

First Name 
 

Last Name 
 

Title  
 

Email 
 

Phone 
 

Address where HHAP 6 check will be mailed 

Guidance  
This address MUST match the TIN and/or STD 204. 
 



Page 20 of 25 
 

City 
 

State 
 

Zip Code 
 

Funding Plan –  Select Administrative Entity. 

Total HHAP 6 Allocation(s) Administering 
$ 

HHAP 6 Allocations 

4.a. Proposed Funding Activities 

Guidance 
The tables below are formatted as “repeating content”.  
 
To add a funding activity, click into any of the tables to reveal the content border, then click the (+) 
that appears on the right-hand margin of the border. This will not work if the template is open in a web 
browser; the template must be open in the Microsoft Word application. 

 
Activity 1.  

Describe the proposed funding activity in clear, specific terms. 
 

Identify the HHAP 6 eligible use under which the proposed funding activity is budgeted. 
Choose an item. 

Identify the total HHAP 6 funding proposed for the activity. 
$ 

Identify which System Performance Measure Improvement Plan Key Action(s) the activity supports. 

Guidance  
When identifying Key Actions here, refer to the applicable Key Action as "Key Action [#]". 

 

 
Does this budget propose to fund any New Interim Housing Solutions, aside from those designated 
in the Youth Set Aside? 

Guidance  
Proposing to use HHAP 6 to fund New Interim Housing (that is not designated for the Youth Set 

Key Action(s) (from the System Performance Measure Improvement Plan, Section 3.b. of the 
regional application) this funding activity will improve 

 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-allocations.pdf


Page 21 of 25 
 

Aside), covered under HHAP 6 Statute Category #3 in Section III. of the HHAP 6 NOFA, requires 
documenting the Sustainability of the Region's Permanent Housing Portfolio. 
Choose an item. 

Does this budget propose to fund any Non-housing Solutions? 

Guidance  
Non-housing Solutions are listed in HHAP 6 Statute Category #4 in Section III. of the HHAP 6 NOFA. 
Proposing to use HHAP 6 to fund Non-housing Solutions requires documenting the Sustainability of 
the Region's Permanent Housing Portfolio. 

 

Funding Priority Considerations: Documenting Sustainability of the Region’s Interim and 
Permanent Housing Portfolios 

Steps to complete this section 

To complete 4.b. Sustainability of the Region's Interim Housing Portfolio: 
1. Identify the total existing Interim Housing shelters and beds (beds) in the region. 
2. If proposing to use HHAP 6 to fund New Interim Housing solutions, aside from those 

designated for the Youth Set Aside, Eligible Applicants must identify the total beds 
proposed to be added during the grant term (FY24/25-28/29) in the region and are 
required to complete 4c, the Sustainability of the Region’s Permanent Housing 
Portfolio. 

3. Identify the total estimated capital and operating costs for the beds (existing and, if 
applicable, proposed to be added) during the grant term. 

4. Identify the funding sources (including amounts) that will realize and sustain the 
estimated capital and operating costs for the beds in the region for the grant term. 

 
To complete 4.c. Sustainability of the Region's Permanent Housing Portfolio: 
Required if any regional partner is proposing to spend HHAP 6 funding on New Interim Housing 
solutions (aside from those designated for the Youth Set Aside) and/or Non-Housing Solutions.  
For the region's existing, at-risk, and proposed permanent affordable housing identify all the following: 

1. The total (existing, at-risk, and proposed) permanent affordable housing developments 
and units (developments) in the region. Data for existing and at-risk developments can 
be provided by HCD upon request. 
Note: Developments proposed includes those currently seeking permanent housing 
funding or operations support in the region which still have a financing or supportive 
services and operations funding gap. 

2. The total estimated capital and operating costs for (existing, at-risk, and proposed) 
developments during the grant term. 

3. The funding sources (including amounts) that will realize and sustain the estimated capital 
and operating costs for (existing, at-risk, and proposed) developments in the region for the 
grant term. 
 

To complete 4.d. Documentation of Youth Set Aside Requirement: 
1. Certify that the region has budgeted at least 10 percent of each HHAP 6 allocation to be 

spent on services for homeless youth (as defined in HSC 50216(l). 
 

Choose an item. 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


Page 22 of 25 
 

4.b. Sustainability of the Region's Interim Housing Portfolio 

Guidance  
Pursuant to HSC Section 50243(c), all applicants must demonstrate they have dedicated 
sufficient resources to sustain their region’s existing and proposed portfolio of interim 
housing within the grant term (FY24/25-FY28/29). 
 
The stakeholder engagement required in advance of regional application development should also 
be used to help inform the requirements related to documenting the Sustainability of the Region’s 
Interim Housing Portfolio.  

Region's Interim Housing Portfolio 

Number of Existing Interim Beds (beds) within the Region. 
 

(If Applicable) Number of Interim Beds Proposed to be added within the grant term (FY24/25-28/29). 
 

Total Estimated Capital and Operating Cost for the Existing and Proposed Beds during the grant 
term. 

$ 

Funding Sources Realizing and Sustaining the Estimated Capital and Operating Costs for Beds in 
the Region within the Grant Term (FY24/25-FY28/29). 

Guidance  
The funding amounts in this table, when added, must equal the estimated total capital and 
operating cost for the existing and proposed beds during the grant term. 
 
If a gap remains, the region must identify other sources to address the gap. This may include, 
but is not limited to, use of HHAP funding, local dedicated funding, Behavioral Health Services Act 
funds, long-term capitalized operating reserves, or any other local, state, or federal funding source 
from the list within the Systems Performance Measures Improvement plan section (IV.A.3.b.ii.) of 
the HHAP 6 NOFA. 

Funding Source Amount Dedicated 

  

4.c. Sustainability of the Region’s Permanent Housing Portfolio 

Guidance  
Regions proposing to use HHAP 6 to fund New Interim Housing Solutions (aside from those 
designated for the Youth Set Aside) and/or Non-Housing Solutions must complete this 
section. 
 
If a region demonstrates it can sustain its existing and proposed interim and permanent housing 
portfolio, then it may be permitted to use HHAP 6 funds on New Interim Housing solutions (beyond 
New Interim Housing for youth populations) and/or Non-Housing Solutions; however, applicants 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


Page 23 of 25 
 

will still be required to budget and spend at least 50 percent of their HHAP 6 allocation on 
Housing Solutions, defined as HSC 50243(e)(1),(2),and (3)(A-I). 

Region's Existing Permanent Affordable Housing Portfolio 

Total permanent affordable housing developments and units (developments) in the region. 
 

Total estimated capital and operating cost for existing developments. 
$ 

Funding Sources Realizing and Sustaining the Region's Existing Developments within the Grant 
Term (FY24/25-FY28/29). 

Guidance  
The funding amounts in this table, when added, should equal the estimated total capital and 
operating cost for existing developments in the region. 
 
If a gap remains, the region must identify other sources to address the gap. This may include, 
but is not limited to, use of HHAP funding, local dedicated funding, Behavioral Health Services Act 
funds, long- term capitalized operating reserves, or any other local, state, or federal funding source 
from the list within the Systems Performance Measures Improvement plan section (IV.A.3.b.ii.)of 
the HHAP 6 NOFA. 

Funding Source Amount Supporting 

  

At-Risk Permanent Affordable Housing within the Region 
Number of developments at risk of expiring affordability restrictions during the grant term 
(FY24/25-FY28/29). 

 

Total estimated capital and operating cost for at-risk developments. 
$ 

 
Funding Sources Realizing and Sustaining the Region's At-Risk Developments within the Grant 
Term (FY24/25-FY28/29) 

Guidance  
The funding amounts in this table, when added, should equal the estimated total capital and 
operating cost for the region's at-risk developments. 
 
If a gap remains, the region must identify other sources to address the gap. This may include, 
but is not limited to, use of HHAP funding, local dedicated funding, Behavioral Health Services Act 
funds, long- term capitalized operating reserves, or any other local, state, or federal funding source 
from the list within the Systems Performance Measures Improvement plan section (IV.A.3.b.ii.) of 
the HHAP 6 NOFA. 

Funding source Amount Supporting 

  

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


Page 24 of 25 
 

Proposed Permanent Affordable Housing within the Region 
Total number of developments proposed which still have a financing or supportive services and 
operations funding gap (proposed developments) during the grant term (FY24/25-FY28/29). 

 

Total Estimated Funding Gap (capital and operating costs) for the proposed developments during 
the grant term (FY24/25-FY28/29). 

$ 

Funding Sources Realizing and Sustaining the Region's Proposed Developments within the Grant 
Term (FY24/25- FY28/29) 

Guidance  
The funding amounts in this table, when added, should equal the estimated total capital and 
operating cost for the region's proposed developments. 
 
If a gap remains, the applicant must identify other sources to address the gap. This may 
include, but is not limited to, use of HHAP funding, local dedicated funding, Behavioral Health 
Services Act funds, long- term capitalized operating reserves, or any other local, state, or federal 
funding source from the list within the Systems Performance Measures Improvement plan section 
(IV.A.3.b.ii.) of the HHAP 6 NOFA. 

Funding source Amount Supporting 

  

4.d. Documentation of Youth Set Aside Requirement 

Guidance  
At least 10 percent of each HHAP 6 allocation must be spent on services for homeless youth 
(HSC 50241(e)), and there are no prohibitions on spending a greater percentage on the Youth 
Set Aside. 
 
Documenting Sustainability of the Region’s Permanent Housing Portfolio is not required for New 
Interim Housing Solutions for homeless youth. 

By checking the box below, I certify that at least 10 percent of each HHAP 6 allocation is set-
aside for youth (defined in HSC 50216(l)), as required by HSC 50241(e). 

☐ I certify under penalty of perjury that all of the information in the above section is true and 
accurate to the best of my knowledge. 

Section 5. MOU and Application Certification 

Steps to complete this section 
1. Upload the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) as specified below. 
2. Complete the certification to indicate all information included in this regional application is 

true and accurate. 
 

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/grants-and-funding/calich/hhap-6-nofa.pdf


Page 25 of 25 
 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 

Guidance  
The MOU is a required component of the regional application. The MOU must: reflect the Regionally 
Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan submitted under this regional application and commit 
each Eligible Applicant as a signatory to participate in, and to comply with, the Regionally 
Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan. 
 
Optional: Smaller cities and tribal governments may choose to participate in, and be signatories to, 
the MOU. 

Supporting Documentation (Optional) 

Guidance  
Upload any additional supporting documentation the region would like to provide. 

Certification 

Guidance  
A representative from each participating Eligible Applicant must certify the regional application. 

Certifying the Regional Application for Submission 

Guidance  
The tables below are formatted as “repeating content”.  
 
To add an Eligible Applicant, click anywhere in any table to reveal the content border, then click the 
(+) that appears on the right-hand margin of the border. 

Eligible Applicant 
 Choose an item. 

☐ On behalf of the above participating Eligible Applicant, I certify that all information included in 
this regional application is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge. 

First Name 
 

Last Name 
 

Phone 
 

Email 
 

 



 

1 

Memorandum of Understanding 
Ventura County Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan 

May 14, 2025 

 This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) is by and among the 
following parties:  Ventura County Continuum of Care (CoC); and the 
County of Ventura (County), a political subdivision of the State of California 
and is effective as to any of the above on the date that party executes this 
MOU.           
 
 WHEREAS, Homelessness is an issue that transcends the borders of 
each city in the county; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, Reducing and eliminating the problems associated with 
homelessness in Ventura County will take the efforts of CoC and the 
County working cooperatively; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, It is the purpose and intent of this MOU to commit the 
efforts of CoC and the County to the common good of all to help address 
homelessness in this region. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties to this MOU, for good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged 
and agreed, do hereby agree as follows: 
 
CoC and the County will uphold, participate in, and comply with the 
following: 

1. Commitment to the roles and responsibilities of each eligible 
applicant within the region as they pertain to outreach and site 
coordination, siting and use of available public land, the development 
of shelter, interim and permanent housing options, and coordinating, 
connecting services to individuals experiencing homelessness or at 
risk of experiencing homelessness, within the region, policies for 
addressing encampments, housing element compliance and 
implementation, prohousing designation, housing law violation 
compliance, surplus land inventory, and annual progress report.  

2. Commitment to Key Actions each eligible applicant will take to 
improve the system performance measures. Key actions include 



 

2 

commitment to reducing the number of people experiencing 
unsheltered homelessness, key actions related to increasing the 
number of people exiting homelessness into permanent housing, key 
actions with a specific focus on reducing first time instances of 
homelessness for those exiting institutional settings, including, but no 
limited to jails, prisons and hospitals and key actions addressing 
system performance disparities and ensure racial and gender equity 
in at least service delivery, housing placements, housing retention, 
and/or changes to procurement or other means. 
 

3. Commitment to roles of each eligible applicant in the utilization of 
local, state, and federal funding programs to end homelessness by 
providing a comprehensive summary of available funding, how the 
funding program will be utilized in the region, the amount prioritized 
for permanent housing solutions, and an explanation of how each 
participating applicant is utilizing local, state, and federal funding 
programs to end homelessness. 
 

4. Commitment to the roles and responsibilities of each eligible 
applicant to connect individuals to wrap-around services from all 
eligible federal, state, and local benefit programs. Wrap-around 
services include but are not limited to housing and homelessness 
services and supports that are integrated with the broader social 
services systems and supports such as social security benefits, 
Veteran’s Healthcare benefits, and Medi-Cal benefits through 
Managed Care Plans. 
 

5. Commitment to funding project that provide housing and services that 
are Housing First compliant, per HSC section 50241(f), which 
references welfare and Institutions Code 8255 and 8256, and deliver 
in a low barrier, trauma informed, and culturally responsive manner. 

 
1. Miscellaneous Provisions. 

 
6.1 Notice.  All notices required by this MOU will be deemed 
given when in writing and delivered personally or deposited in 
the United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt 
requested, addressed to the other party at the address set forth 
below or at such other address as the party may designate in 
writing:  



 

3 

 
To Ventura County Continuum of Care 
Dawn Dyer, Chair of the VC CoC Board 
__________________ 
Signature 
__________________ 
Date 
 
To County of Ventura 
Supervisor Janice S. Parvin, Chair of the Board of Supervisors 
__________________ 
Signature 
__________________ 
Date 
 
To County of Ventura 
Dr. Sevet Johnson, County Executive Officer 
__________________ 
Signature 
__________________ 
Date 

 
The address to which any notice, demand, or other writing may 
be given or made or sent to any Party as above provided may 
be changed by written notice given by that Party as above 
provided.   

 
6.2 Governing Law.  This MOU has been made in State of 
California and shall be construed under California Law.  Any 
legal action regarding the MOU shall be in the venue of 
Superior Court in the County of Ventura, California.  

 
6.3 Assignment.  The parties may not assign this MOU or 
the rights and obligations hereunder without the specific written 
consent of the others. 

 
6.4 Entire Agreement.  This document represents the MOU 
between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.  
All prior negotiations and written and/or oral agreements 
between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this 
MOU are merged into this MOU. 

 



 

4 

6.5 Amendments.  This MOU may be modified in writing 
only, signed by the Parties in interest at the time of the 
modification. 

 

6.6 Counterparts.  This MOU may be executed in one or 
more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an 
original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the 
same instrument.  

 
6.7 Survival.  The obligations of this MOU, which by their 
nature would continue beyond the termination of the MOU shall 
survive termination of this MOU.   

 
6.8 Severability.  If any provision of this MOU is found by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be void, invalid or 
unenforceable, the same will either be reformed to comply with 
applicable law or stricken if not so conformable, so as not to 
affect the validity or enforceability of this MOU.  

 
6.9 Waiver.  No delay or failure to require performance of any 
provision of this MOU shall constitute a waiver of that provision 
as to that or any other instance.  Any waiver granted by a party 
must be in writing and shall apply to the specific instance 
expressly stated. 
 
6.10 Authority to Execute.  Each party hereto expressly 
warrants and represents that he/she/they has/have the 
authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of his/her/their 
corporation, partnership, business entity, or governmental entity 
and warrants and represents that he/she/they has/have the 
authority to bind his/her/their entity to the performance of its 
obligations hereunder. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this MOU to be 
executed by their respective governing officials duly authorized by their 
respective legislative bodies. 

 



Responses Overview Active

1. Please identify your partnership with the VC Continuum of Care. Please choose ALL that apply:

Responses

18
Average Time

79:52
Duration

19

Advocate 4

People with lived experience of
homelessness 1

City Partner 5

County Partner 8

Housing Partner 4

Homeless Service Provider 8

Diverse Community Partner (i.e.
Workforce Development, MICO… 0

Domestic Violence Service
Provider 0

Healthcare Provider 0

Veterans Service Provider 1

Justice System Provider 0

Mental Health Service Provider 0

Youth with lived experience of
homelessness 0

Persons of populations
overrepresented in… 0

Child welfare System leader 0

Education System Leader 0

Other 2

Days

5/5/25, 12:52 PM HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan Stakeholder Engagement

https://forms.office.com/Pages/DesignPageV2.aspx?subpage=design&id=BOzgvPHRWk-gUKS16RgWg2RP4H9HwdNBmUbn-SbUkK5UODRUQUFL… 1/7



2. 2024 System Performance Measures Summary:

Metric 1b: Reduce the number of persons experiencing unsheltered homelessness on a daily basis.

Outflow (exits) potentially impacted by lack of available and affordable permanent housing, with inflo
w (new entries)  outpacing.  
Based on the measures and goals addressed below, identify the activity type that would best address
the outcome goal and system impacts. Please reference the definitions noted above.

Category 1: Rapid Re-
Housing/Rental Subsidies 8

Category 1: Operating Subsidies-
Permanent Housing 3

Category 1: Permanent Housing
Services and Services… 5

Category 1: Capital for
Permanent Housing 4

Category 2: Prevention and
Diversion 5

Category 3: Navigation Centers 2

Category 3: Hotel/ Motel
Vouchers 2

Category 3: Operating Expenses-
Interim Housing 1

Category 3: Interim Housing
Services 2

Category 3: Capital for New
Interim Housing 1

Category 3: Improvements to
Existing Interim Housing 0

Category 4: Services and Services
Coordination (Outreach, case… 3

Category 5: HMIS 0

5/5/25, 12:52 PM HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan Stakeholder Engagement

https://forms.office.com/Pages/DesignPageV2.aspx?subpage=design&id=BOzgvPHRWk-gUKS16RgWg2RP4H9HwdNBmUbn-SbUkK5UODRUQUFL… 2/7



3. 2024 System Performance Measures Summary:

Metric 2: Reduce the number of persons who become homeless for the first time.

Inflow (new entries) continues to impact this outcome.  Individuals potentially impacted by high cost
of living, housing/rent cost burdens, wage growth impacts, SSI/SSDI limits, limited flexible Homeless
Prevention/Diversion Funding countywide.

Based on the measures and goals addressed below, identify the activity type that would best address
the outcome goal and system impacts. Please reference the definitions noted above.

Category 1: Rapid Re-
Housing/Rental Subsidies 10

Category 1: Operating
Subsidies-Permanent Housing 0

Category 1: Permanent Housing
Services and Services… 2

Category 1: Capital for
Permanent Housing 3

Category 2: Prevention and
Diversion 12

Category 3: Navigation Centers 3

Category 3: Hotel/Motel
Vouchers 0

Category 3: Operating
Expenses - Interim Housing 1

Category 3: Interim Housing
Services 0

Category 3: Capital for New
Interim Housing 1

Category 3: Improvements to
Existing Interim Housing 1

Category 4: Services and
Services Coordination… 2

Category 5: HMIS 0

5/5/25, 12:52 PM HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan Stakeholder Engagement

https://forms.office.com/Pages/DesignPageV2.aspx?subpage=design&id=BOzgvPHRWk-gUKS16RgWg2RP4H9HwdNBmUbn-SbUkK5UODRUQUFL… 3/7



4. 2024 System Performance Measures Summary:

Metric 3: Increasing the number of people exiting homelessness into permanent housing.

Outflow (exits) potentially impacted by lack of available and affordable permanent housing.

Based on the measures and goals addressed below, identify the activity type that would best address
the outcome goal and system impacts. Please reference the definitions noted above.

Category 1: Rapid Re-
Housing/Rental Subsidies 4

Category 1: Operating Subsidies-
Permanent Housing 7

Category 1: Permanent Housing
Services and Services… 8

Category 1: Capital for
Permanent Housing 7

Category 2: Prevention and
Diversion 1

Category 3: Navigation Centers 2

Category 3: Hotel / Motel
Vouchers 0

Category 3: Operating Expenses-
Interim Housing 1

Category 3: Interim Housing
Services 1

Category 3: Capital for New
Interim Housing 1

Category 3: Improvements to
Existing Interim Housing 0

Category 4: Services and Services
Coordination (Outreach, case… 4

Category 5: HMIS 0

5/5/25, 12:52 PM HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan Stakeholder Engagement

https://forms.office.com/Pages/DesignPageV2.aspx?subpage=design&id=BOzgvPHRWk-gUKS16RgWg2RP4H9HwdNBmUbn-SbUkK5UODRUQUFL… 4/7



5. 2024 System Performance Measures Summary:

Metric 4. Reduce the length of time persons remain homeless.

Outflow potentially impacted by longer shelter stays with the system stagnant due to lack of available
and affordable permanent housing.

Based on the measures and goals addressed below, identify the activity type that would best address
the outcome goal and system impacts. Please reference the definitions noted above.

Category 1: Rapid Re-Housing /
Rental Subsidies 4

Category 1: Operating Subsidies
- Permanent Housing 4

Category 1: Permanent Housing
Services and Services… 6

Category 1: Capital for
Permanent Housing 6

Category 2: Prevention and
Diversion 3

Category 3: Navigation Centers 5

Category 3: Hotel/ Motel
Vouchers 0

Category 3: Operating Expenses-
Interim Housing 0

Category 3: Interim Housing
Services 2

Category 3: Capital for New
Interim Housing 1

Category 3: Improvements to
Existing Interim Housing 0

Category 4: Services and Services
Coordination (Outreach, case… 5

Category 5: HMIS 0

5/5/25, 12:52 PM HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan Stakeholder Engagement

https://forms.office.com/Pages/DesignPageV2.aspx?subpage=design&id=BOzgvPHRWk-gUKS16RgWg2RP4H9HwdNBmUbn-SbUkK5UODRUQUFL… 5/7



6. 2024 System Performance Measures Summary:

Metric 5: Reduce the number of persons who return to homelessness once permanently housed.
Revolving inflow (new entries) potentially impacted by insufficient amount of dedicated housing rete
ntion services/supportive services/wrap around services for individuals and households placed in per
manent housing.

Based on the measures and goals addressed below, identify the activity type that would best address
the outcome goal and system impacts. Please reference the definitions noted above.

Category 1: Rapid Re-Housing/
Rental Subsidies 7

Category 1: Operating Subsidies
- Permanent Housing 1

Category 1: Permanent Housing
Services and Services… 8

Category 1: Capital for
Permanent Housing 4

Category 2: Prevention and
Diversion 7

Category 3: Navigation Centers 2

Category 3: Hotel / Motel
Vouchers 0

Category 3: Operating Expenses-
Interim Housing 0

Category 3: Interim Housing
Services 1

Category 3: Capital for New
Interim Housing 0

Category 3: Improvements to
Existing Interim Housing 0

Category 4: Services and Services
Coordination (Outreach, case… 6

Category 5: HMIS 0

5/5/25, 12:52 PM HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan Stakeholder Engagement

https://forms.office.com/Pages/DesignPageV2.aspx?subpage=design&id=BOzgvPHRWk-gUKS16RgWg2RP4H9HwdNBmUbn-SbUkK5UODRUQUFL… 6/7



7. 2024 System Performance Measures Summary:

Metric 6. Increasing successful placements from street outreach to shelter, transitional housing and p
ermanent housing.

Outflow (exits) potentially impacted by static movement of shelter clients due to lack of available and
affordable permanent housing.  Note: HMIS Data quality challenges

Based on the measures and goals addressed below, identify the activity type that would best address
the outcome goal and system impacts. Please reference the definitions noted above.

Category 1: Rapid Re-Housing /
Rental Subsidies 3

Category 1: Operating Subsidies-
Permanent Housing 1

Category 1: Permanent Housing
Services and Services… 3

Category 1: Capital for
Permanent Housing 5

Category 2: Prevention and
Diversion 3

Category 3: Navigation Centers 5

Category 3: Hotel / Motel
Vouchers 1

Category 3: Operating Expenses
- Interim Housing 0

Category 3: Interim Housing
Services 3

Category 3: Capital for New
Interim Housing 0

Category 3: Improvements to
Existing Interim Housing 1

Category 4: Services and Services
Coordination (Outreach, case… 9

Category 5: HMIS 1

5/5/25, 12:52 PM HHAP 6 Regionally Coordinated Homelessness Action Plan Stakeholder Engagement

https://forms.office.com/Pages/DesignPageV2.aspx?subpage=design&id=BOzgvPHRWk-gUKS16RgWg2RP4H9HwdNBmUbn-SbUkK5UODRUQUFL… 7/7


	Agenda - May 14, 2025 VC CoC Board
	Item 5 - Minutes - April 9, 2025 VC CoC Board
	Item 6 - Receive and File VCHMIS PTH CES Report and Update
	Item 6a - VCHMIS_CES Updates 4.10.25
	Item 7 - CoC HHAP-3 Youth Set-Aside Grant Reallocation
	Item 8 - Approval of the 2025 Homeless Count Volunteer Survey
	Item 8a-2025 Ventura County Homeless Count Survey
	Item 9 - HHAP 6 Board Item
	Item 9a- HHAP 6 Notice of Funding Availability
	Item 9b- HHAP 6 Application
	Item 9c- HHAP-6 Regionally Coordination Homelessness Action Plan MOU
	Item 9d - HHAP 6 Survey Results 5.5.25

